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Introduction: The Knights Templar


In Jerusalem, in the wake of the First Crusade and its bloody triumph, there was born a religious brotherhood of a kind never seen before. In about AD 1118 this embryonic Order, comprising a handful of men, established itself on the site of the ancient Hebrew Temple. They became known as the Poor Knights of Christ and the Temple of Solomon, the Knights Templar, or simply the Templars.1 Setting themselves apart from other knights and nobles, the Templars took religious vows before the Patriarch of Jerusalem. They renounced worldly comforts and committed themselves to a harsh, monastic way of life. It was to be monasticism with a difference, however, for they were to retain their arms and armour and become warrior monks. This union of monasticism and militarism was a new concept within Catholic Christianity, and some observers were troubled by the contradiction. Others were concerned lest the Templars neglect the internal battle against spiritual forces of darkness while they engaged in physical warfare against those deemed infidels and enemies of Christ. Yet others had no such doubts and viewed the Templars’ path as eminently worthy.


The Templars lived communally, devoted themselves to prayer, and embraced poverty, chastity and obedience. In addition they pledged their swords to the defence of pilgrims, guarding them from the bandits and marauders of the roads and guiding and sheltering them along the arduous way to the sacred places. The early Templars received enthusiastic support from Abbot Bernard of Clairvaux, the charismatic and visionary leader of the Cistercian Order, who was later to be canonised. St Bernard’s endorsement resulted in the Templars’ incorporation into the heart of the ecclesiastical establishment. They received their formal Rule, as well as general recognition by the clergy, at the Council of Troyes in 1129. A great noble, Count Hugh of Champagne, meanwhile, gave the Order an aristocratic seal of approval by joining it himself. He swore allegiance to their founding Grand Master, Hugues de Payens, who had embarked for the East as the count’s own vassal. Before long, Church edicts were issued, giving the Templars such extensive powers and privileges that in theory they answered only to the Pope.


The Holy Land had been recovered for Christianity from the Muslim powers. While enduring much suffering and spilling much blood, the Crusaders had effectively created a Christian confederation there, comprised of the four states of Edessa, Antioch, Tripoli and Jerusalem. The fledgling Kingdom of Jerusalem became pre-eminent, but was surrounded by enemies and remained in peril. In that age of faith, the scene of Christ’s Crucifixion and Resurrection was held sacred by all of Christendom. Once Jerusalem was won, the struggle became to retain it. It soon became clear that the Order of the Temple could serve an additional function contributing to the defence and expansion of the kingdom’s frontiers. The Templars’ potential was also appreciated in the principality of Antioch, to the north, where they received some of their earliest castles. Catholics with sufficient means also made generous donations of land and capital to the Order. They believed that by making such endowments they aided the Holy Land’s physical defence, and also helped to assure spiritual salvation for themselves and their families. Pious nobles also proved ready to join the Order as knights, while commoners joined as sergeants or serving brothers. Soon the Templars evolved into a formidable army, spearheaded by knights in white mantles emblazoned with red crosses. An Armenian chronicler wrote of them as Christ-like paladins, who appeared ‘as if sent by Heaven’ to defend the Christians from Turkish marauders. The Templars’ martial activities in the Holy Land were facilitated by an expanding support network in France, England and other kingdoms, where soon the Order became a familiar presence in society.


After 1144, when Edessa fell to the resurgent Muslims, the Second Crusade was proclaimed. In the course of this campaign the Templars came of age as a fighting force. They contributed leadership and financial assistance to the expedition of Louis VII of France as it crossed Anatolia, saving the King’s contingent from certain annihilation. At around this time the Order also began to commit knights to battle against Muslims in the Iberian Peninsula, the reconquest of which was coming to be portrayed as a second front in a virtually ongoing Crusade. The Templars and their counterparts, the black-clad Knights Hospitaller, continued to bolster secular armies fighting on the frontiers of Christendom. They fought in Spain against the Almohads and in Eastern Europe against the Mongols, as well as against the Turks, Arabs and Mameluks in the Levant. Their foe was often equally zealous and invariably possessed a significant numerical advantage. On a number of occasions the Templars fought to the brink of their own extinction.


The Templars’ most famous defeat was at Hattin, against the Sultan Saladin, the nemesis of the Kingdom of Jerusalem. Poor and divided leadership – not least, perhaps, the failings of the Order’s own Grand Master Gerard de Ridefort – propelled the Christians towards this disaster in midsummer of 1187. The Christians were lured to Tiberias, through the blistering desert, past poisoned wells. The Franks of Jerusalem fought gallantly despite the terrible condition they were in. Eventually, though, Saladin captured their leader King Guy and (what was worse) the True Cross. The Christians had carried the sacred relic into the battle, as they had into many through the years. Before, it had brought them victory against all odds, but not this time. After the battle, the Sultan executed his Templar and Hospitaller captives. So many other Christian knights had been killed or taken prisoner at Hattin that there were few left to defend the towns, castles and cities, which capitulated to Saladin’s might over the ensuing months. Eventually came the turn of Jerusalem, and soon the Muslims again controlled the Holy City.


Europe had not yet lost its Crusading enthusiasm, however. The Third Crusade, led by King Richard the Lionheart of England, restored the coastal cities of the Holy Land to Christian rule. Meanwhile new knights came to replace the fallen brethren of the Military Orders, who were considered martyrs. The Orders played an active role in the fight back, especially at the Battle of Arsuf, where Saladin’s army was scattered. The Christians might have followed up this victory by retaking Jerusalem, but realised that they had insufficient men to hold on to it afterwards. Having reached a stalemate, the conflict was suspended and a truce was made.


The Templars avoided participation in the infamous Fourth Crusade, which veered off course and pillaged Christian Byzantium. Likewise they kept out of the Albigensian Crusade, which ravaged the Languedoc in the name of eradicating heresy. They were, though, active in the ill-fated Fifth Crusade in Egypt, and in the Sixth, when the Holy Roman Emperor Frederick II secured – through diplomacy – the restoration of Jerusalem to the Christians. In the second quarter of the thirteenth century an internecine power struggle between the Pope and the Emperor led to political Crusades being preached within Europe against Frederick II himself; Frederick being viewed as a threat to the Papal States, which his domains encircled. The Templars as a rule disdained to fight against other Christians, even on the Pope’s behalf. In 1244 in the East, meanwhile, allies of the Sultan of Egypt, the Khoresmians, took Jerusalem by storm, and subjected it to rapine and pillage. Soon afterwards the Christians suffered another heavy defeat, at the Battle of La Forbie, where almost all the Templars were killed or captured. Though the Order would again resurge, it was perhaps the beginning of the end.


The Seventh Crusade – that of the saintly King Louis IX of France – was greatly delayed. Louis invaded Egypt with Templars as his vanguard, but was not fated to achieve great success. The Templar contingent, after initial triumphs, was decimated when it accompanied Louis’s bellicose brother in a fateful charge into the town of Mansourah. The knights were trapped and massacred. The victorious Mameluks, a caste of slaves-turned-warlords, soon seized power. Lauded by a Muslim chronicler as Islam’s Templars, these Mameluks subsequently burst out of Egypt into Syria and Palestine and, after defeating the Mongols, turned against the Christians. In unrelenting campaigns, they whittled away the territory of the Frankish settlers. Europe, meanwhile, had turned in against itself. Successive Popes were distracted by their wars in Italy and Sicily. They offered indulgences to those prepared to take up the sword for the Guelf cause against the Ghibellines. Papal wars against Frederick’s successors absorbed money and manpower, much to the detriment of the Latin East and to the dismay of Templars such as the poet Ricaut Bonomel. The condition of the vestigial Kingdom of Jerusalem continued to deteriorate as the thirteenth century wore on. In 1291, when no Crusaders came to reinforce them, the Templars there perished defending the last corner of the last major Christian stronghold, the city of Acre. They fought on almost until the walls of their fortress tumbled around them. Yet even after this final failure of the Eastern Crusades, the Templars survived as a powerful organisation throughout Europe, at least until the fateful events of 1307.


The Templars still possessed their widespread and lucrative estates, and since coming into being had also branched out into banking and other commercial enterprises. Yet having been founded for the defence of the Holy Land, with the fall of Acre they had lost their principal raison d’être. Even as they continued making valiant attempts to regain a foothold on the Syrian shore, they were more vulnerable than they imagined to being attacked from the rear. They had become, perhaps, both an uncomfortable reminder to Europe of its failure in the long-neglected East, and a handy scapegoat for this failure.


King Philip IV of France (called Philip the Fair) suddenly accused them of betraying the Christian cause. He claimed that they were guilty of secretly repudiating the faith and of performing nocturnal rites both blasphemous and depraved. Royal agents seized every Templar in France following dawn raids carried out on Friday 13 October. The Templars were soon delivered into the hands of the Inquisition – an institution founded to stamp out religious heresy, but by this time subservient to the Capetian state. At the same time Philip sequestered the Templars’ property.


Pope Clement V was originally outraged by the King’s action, and tried to halt the heresy trials. By then, however, many Templars had confessed under torture. The Pope, under sustained pressure from Philip, had little choice but to go along with the destruction of the Order. Clement sealed the Templars’ fate by calling for them to be arrested in every land where they were established, and to be held and put on trial in the name of the Church. Thus commenced perhaps the largest trial in world history. In France many Templars, who had retracted their initial confessions, were burnt, protesting their innocence and their loyalty to Christianity. Their international brethren, meanwhile, from Ireland to Cyprus, were seized and brought before Episcopal tribunals, and though not all could be convicted, the Order’s name was widely tainted with suspicion.


In 1312, Clement V convened the Council of Vienne, where the Templars’ fate was to be decided. The Pope, having imposed silence on the unhappy congregation, issued vox in excelso, a solemn proclamation that abolished the Order of the Temple for all time. Two years later, in Paris, the last Grand Master was called to publicly repeat the confession that had been forced from him some years before, and to hear his sentence. Jacques de Molay used the occasion instead to retract his confession and to insist that the Order of the Temple was wholly innocent. He declared himself ready to die in atonement for the moment of weakness in which he had confessed to lies through fear and torture. Geoffroi de Charney, a fellow Templar dignitary, supported him in this stand. Before the day was through the furious King had ordered both men to be burned alive. It was the end of the Knights Templar. Both King Philip and Pope Clement were dead within the year, and soon after that the King’s line died out amid strife and betrayal. In the imagination of many, however, either vilified or turned into martyred heroes, the Templars lived on.


Author’s Note


This book is intended as a dictionary of the Knights Templar, a reference concerning their historical legacy and their mysteries. It is an attempt to explain the story of the Templars and the Crusades and the place of the Knights Templar in history, mythology and culture. It outlines the places and themes significant to the Templars, as well as telling the stories of the individual Templars themselves, and of their allies and their enemies. Individuals are listed in order of first names. Words in the text in bold print are those names and topics that have individual entries. Saints are listed by first names (eg. George, St), unless in a place name, (eg. Sainte Eulalie de Cernon). Contrary to recent convention, I have tended to give names and dates as they would have been familiar to those involved in the subject of this book; hence, for example, Jacques de Molay instead of the Anglicised James of Molay, and the traditional AD.


About the Author


A graduate of University College, Worcester, Gordon Napier is currently studying the cult of Mary Magdalene in the context of the Crusades for his PhD. He is an acknowledged expert on all things Templar, as well as the European witch hunt of the Middle Ages. Alongside poetry and fiction, Gordon is the author of the best-selling The Rise and Fall of the Knights Templar: The Order of the Temple, 1118-1314.




Select Chronology of Templar History
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First Crusade invades Holy Land




	

1098–9









	

Baldwin II comes to throne




	

1118









	

Foundation of the Order




	

c. 1118









	

Field of Blood




	

1119









	

Council of Nablus




	

1120









	

Council of Troyes




	

1128–9









	

Templars gain castles near Antioch




	

1136–7









	

Omne Datum Optimum




	

1239









	

Second Crusade




	

1148–9









	

Crusaders capture Ascalon




	

1153









	

Amalric I’s campaigns in Egypt




	

1163–9









	

Templar ambush of Assassin envoys




	

1173









	

Saladin comes to power




	

1174









	

Battle of Montguisard




	

1177









	

Fall of Jacob’s Ford




	

1179









	

Battles of Cresson and Hattin




	

1187









	

Saladin takes Jerusalem




	

1187









	

Third Crusade




	

1188–92









	

Fourth Crusade sacks Byzantium




	

1204









	

Albigensian Crusade begins




	

1209









	

Fifth Crusade




	

1221









	

Sixth Crusade (that of Frederick II)




	

1228–9









	

Foundation of the Inquisition




	

1231









	

Richard of Cornwall’s Crusade




	

1240









	

Battle of Liegnitz




	

1241









	

Strife between Military Orders in Acre




	

1241









	

Khoresmians take Jerusalem




	

1244









	

Battle of La Forbie




	

1244









	

Seventh Crusade




	

1247–54









	

Ain Jalut (Mongols v. Mameluks)




	

1260









	

Mameluks invade Holy Land




	

1261









	

Edward I’s Crusade




	

1271–2









	

Fall of Acre




	

1291









	

Arrest of the Templars




	

1307









	

Trials of Templars




	

1308–10









	

Council of Vienne




	

1311–12









	

Burning of Jacques de Molay




	

1314














The Templar A–Z



A


Aaron


(c. thirteenth century BC)


Aaron is mentioned in the Old Testament book as the elder brother of the prophet Moses, a Levite and the first high priest of the Jews. He mediated between Moses and Pharaoh, and seems to have been influential in Egypt. During the Exodus he is attributed with the making of the idol of the golden calf while Moses was on Mount sinai receiving the Ten Commandments from God. Oddly Aaron seems not to have incurred God’s wrath, and later served as priest to the Tabernacle, the portable Temple, in which was kept the Ark of the Covenant. Meanwhile, Aaron’s two sons, Nadab and Abihu, were destroyed by fire that went out from the Ark, as punishment for offering ‘strange fire before the Lord which he commanded them not.’(Leviticus 10:1)


Abacus see Baculus


Abbasids


The Abbasid dynasty reigned as Caliphs in Baghdad. The Abbasids were the spiritual leaders of the Sunni Muslim world, recognized throughout the Middle East as the successors of Mohammed. The Crusaders understood the Caliph to be the Pope of the Saracens, however by this time Abbasid power had waned. In 1055 the Caliph had been reduced to little more than a symbolic figurehead, with a Seljuk Sultan holding the real power.2 Even so the Caliphs retained an aura of semi-divinity. The Mongols deposed the thirty-seventh and last Abbasid Caliph, al-Mustasim, in 1258, after the sack of Baghdad. The Caliph died along with eighty thousand of his people, who were slaughtered by the Mongol hordes.3 Hulagu supposedly had al-Mustasim trampled to death beneath horses’ hooves, having rolled him in rugs so that none of his sacred blood would splash on the ground. A scion of the Ayyubid dynasty was installed by Baybars as Caliph in Cairo in 1261, to provide a veneer of legitimacy for the Mameluk regime. The Ayyubid Caliphate in Cairo (the former seat of the rival Fatimid Caliphate) survived until 1517.


Abbey of Notre Dame de Mont Sion


The Abbey of Notre Dame de Mont Sion appears to have been the home of a small religious Order operating in the Holy Land during the era of the Crusades. The community served the abbey on Mount Zion in Jerusalem and also had a monastery on Mount Carmel, which later became the seat of the Carmelites. The monks of the Abbey of Sion, according to Jacques de Vitry, were Augustinians, linked to the Canons of the Holy Sepulchre – the same religious Order as that which had custody of the Dome of the Rock on Temple Mount, and that supported the foundation of the Knights Templar. The Abbey of Mount Zion itself probably predated the Crusades and originally had an Eastern Orthodox monastic community. It is thought that after the success of the First Crusade the Latin brethren arrived, possibly being the same mysterious Italian monks who had founded the Abbey of Orval and then suddenly departed from it. There is some suggestion that these monks could also have had links to Peter the Hermit and Godfroi de Bouillon.4 When the Crusaders lost the Holy Land, the monks of the Abbey of Zion evacuated to Sicily and were apparently absorbed by the Jesuit Order in 1617. It is unclear whether this historical Abbey of Sion had any direct links to the Templars, or whether it was connected in any way to the Prieuré de Sion, an organization featuring in various conspiracy theories.


Abbotsford see Walter Scott


Abraxas


The Abraxas (or Abrasax) is an enigmatic figure, depicted as a warrior with a cockerel’s head and with snakes for legs. The creature holds a round shield and a flail whip, supposedly representing wisdom and strength. Gnostic sects apparently used small stones, carved with images of the Abraxas, as magical charms, in the first centuries AD. (‘Abraxas’ may be the root of the magic word ‘Abracadabra!’) Abraxas images were used by the Basilidean sect of Alexandria, whom the early fathers of the Catholic Church condemned as heretics. Abraxas is said to have represented the supreme deity, from whom emanated the angels, one of which, as the Gnostics thought, was the flawed Jehovah who created the material world. Obviously to medieval Catholics all this would have constituted grave heresy, and the chimera-like image would have appeared outlandish and demonic. The issue of whether there was a secret group within the Templars, which diverged from Catholic Orthodoxy, is perhaps still an open question. An intriguing indication that this might be the case is a version of their seal bearing the image of the Abraxas. Around it is the legend Templi Secretum. Whether the Templars knew the true meaning of the Abraxas, or merely used it as a heraldic device, is hard to assess.


Absolution


Absolution is the act of forgiving sins. This is linked to the duty of confession. A priest would declare one forgiven after one had confessed and performed any penances imposed. One of the accusations against the Order was that Templar Masters (who were laymen) heard confession and bestowed absolution. This was presented as an affront to the ordained clergy, which claimed exclusive spiritual authority. There may have been some basis of truth in this accusation, but it probably arose through confusion or ignorance of official dogma on the matter, coupled with a failure on the part of the Templars to keep up with doctrinal developments. Galcerand de Teus, a Spanish Templar interrogated in the Kingdom of Naples, admitted that lay absolution was practised in Templar Chapter meetings. He said that the absolving Master of the Temple would pray for God to pardon the brother’s sins as he had pardoned St Mary Magdalene and the thief who was on the cross. It is arguable whether such information can be relied upon, coming from a possibly forced confession. (Other Templars’ testimony supported this claim, but made no mention of the ‘thief’.) Elsewhere, meanwhile, for example in England, there was controversy over whether the presiding Preceptor would say ‘I pray to God that he may pardon your sins’, which would have been acceptable, or ‘I pardon you in the name of the Father, the Son and the Holy Spirit’, which would have been illicit.


Accusations against the Order


The Knights Templar in France were arrested on Friday 13 October 1307, three weeks after King Philip the Fair had issued secret instructions for this, saying it was necessary because the Templars were guilty of terrible, supremely abominable crimes. According to the accusations, though the Templars were outwardly a respectable Christian brotherhood, secretly, they were blasphemers and heretics. The accusations were subsequently made public. The definitive list was drawn up only in August 1308 and was probably the work of the King’s minister Guillaume de Nogaret. It contained many items; mostly covering practices allegedly taking place during the Templars’ initiation ritual. The list was well calculated to besmirch the Order’s reputation and to rouse popular revulsion. The main charges were as follows:


That the Templars denied and renounced Christ, and made initiates spit at (or otherwise defile) the Cross during their secret reception ceremony. They taught that Christ was a false prophet and not God.


That the Templars did not perform or believe in the sacraments of the Catholic Church, and their priests failed to speak the proper words during the mass.


That the Templars were guilty of idolatry and unholy worship. They worshipped severed heads (some had three faces, some one, some a skull. The idol had the power to bring them riches as well as to make the trees flower and the land germinate). A black cat also manifested.


That the Templars wore chords around their middles, which had touched these idols.


That at their receptions initiates were made to give or receive obscene kisses by the presiding Master, and afterwards encouraged to engage in sodomy.


That the Templars were sworn to secrecy. Those who refused to go along with these things were killed or imprisoned. The rest were forbidden to confess to anyone except to a brother of the Order.


That the Templars held that the Grand Master and other lay brothers could absolve sins.


That the Order was greedy and corrupt and sought to enrich itself by any means legal or otherwise.5


The Templars in France were cruelly tortured by the Inquisition and by royal agents. Confessions (to some or all of the above charges) were secured from many of them by these means. The accusations were apparently first made by a former Templar called Esquin de Floyran. Little if any material evidence could be produced pointing to Templar guilt, and none of the spies apparently sent into the Order by King Philip seem to have been called to testify.


Accursed Tower see Acre


Acre


Acre is an ancient Mediterranean port long seen as the gateway to the Holy Land, if not part of the Holy Land itself. The Crusaders, under King Baldwin I, captured the city in 1104. After the Battle of Hattin in 1187, Acre was one of the many Christian cities that fell to Saladin. The beleaguered Guy de Lusignan, having been captured at Hattin and subsequently released, was turned away from Tyre by Conrad of Montferrat, and so took his meagre forces to besiege Acre, establishing a fortified camp on the beachhead. This was in turn surrounded by Saladin’s army, but held firm, and became the nucleus of the Christian fight-back that became known as the Third Crusade. Many died of disease and injury, but supplies and reinforcements continued to arrive from Europe. The English and French Crusaders under Richard the Lionheart and Philip II Augustus eventually joined the Christian camp, and recovered the city in 1191, having successfully kept Saladin’s relief force from the besieged Muslim garrison.


The Siege had been long and bloody (it was compared to the mythic siege of Troy). The Grand Master of the Templars, Gerard de Ridefort, had died in the course of the fighting, and Queen Sibylla of Jerusalem and her two young daughters died during an epidemic in the Crusader camp. After the Crusaders’ victory, the Muslim prisoners were executed on Richard’s orders.6 With Acre secure, Richard was able to march south, and to defeat Saladin again at Arsuf. Acre, meanwhile, became the effective capital of the vestigial Kingdom of Jerusalem. It lacked the spiritual draw of Jerusalem itself but was more important strategically, and it became the political and economic hub of the Christian territory, also playing host to Muslim merchants, for the Holy Wars did not long put a stop to commerce.


To the north of Acre was the suburb of Montmausars, created to accommodate the Christian refugees from the Muslim conquests who swelled Acre’s population during the thirteenth century. The whole city was surrounded by formidable fortifications and was a tough nut to crack for any enemy. The ‘Accursed Tower’ was part of these defences, on the inner of two walls. The name dated to the costly siege of Acre during the Third Crusade. The outer wall had towers named after their sponsors, including the Towers of the Patriarch, the Legate, King Henry II, the English, the Countess of Blois, the Hospitallers and the Templars.7


The Templars had their compound in a fortress by the sea in the south-western corner of the promontory on which the city stood. According to the Templar of Tyre, the towers of the Templars base at Acre were topped by four gilded lions, which were ‘a noble sight to look upon’. A grand palace for the Grand Master also lay within the enclosure (perhaps indicative of the onset of a degree of decadence). The Templars’ compound had as neighbours the districts controlled by Genoa, Venice and Pisa, the Venetian quarter dominating the harbour. Each mercantile group had a fondaco or market square. The Hospitallers and Teutonic Knights also had their headquarters in the city.


The Bishop of Acre, Jacques de Vitry, newly arrived from France, found the city full of vice and corruption. Acre was also often the scene of acrimony between various Christian factions. There would be strife between supporters of the French, German and Cypriot claimants to the throne, and the Palestinian Frankish barons, as well as between the Italian merchant communes. The Military Orders became embroiled in some of these internecine quarrels, symptomatic of the Christian state going into meltdown before its final destruction. Despite being without stable government and being torn by factionalism, however, the city survived until the siege commenced by the Mameluks in 1291. Even today it contains Crusader remnants, including parts of the Hospitaller Citadel and a Templar tunnel. The Templar fortress by the sea at Acre was the last part of the city to fall under the Mameluk onslaught. Its ruins are now under the water.


The Siege of Acre of April to May 1291 was effectively the Christians’ last stand in the East. The Mameluk sultan Al-Ashraf Khalil, the son of Qalawun, brought a mighty army out of Egypt and the defenders of Acre, largely abandoned by the West, perished on the walls.8 The Grand Master of the Templars, Guillaume de Beaujeu led a daring sortie out and he and his brethren subsequently fought off sustained assaults on the fortifications. The city’s moat filled with dead bodies as the Muslims pressed the offensive. When the Accursed Tower fell, Guillaume rushed to lead the counter attack, where he was mortally wounded. At last the Mameluks gained entry to Acre. As desperate street fighting raged, many of the citizens streamed to abandon the doomed city by sea. The Patriarch, Nicholas of Hanape, took so many refugees onto his boat that it capsized and he was drowned, while the unscrupulous Templar captain, Roger de Flor, founded a career in piracy by extorting vast sums from any who would flee on his own ship. Other Templars fought on, under Peter de Sevrey their Marshal. They guarded the citizens who could not escape in their citadel by the sea, once the Muslims cut off the harbour. On 18 May 1291, they made such a determined resistance that al-Ashraf offered terms, and the Templars agreed to surrender in return for the safe passage away of the refugees among them. On 25 May, a Mameluk Emir with a hundred warriors was dispatched to oversee the surrender, and raised his banner over the citadel. His men at once began to molest the women and children, provoking the Templars to kill the Mameluks and tear down their banner, hoisting again their own flag, the Beauseant.


That night De Sevrey ordered Theobald Gaudin to take the Templars’ treasure to Sidon by boat, and most of the civilians were also evacuated by sea, though others volunteered to stay to help in the fight. The next morning de Sevrey and his staff left the citadel under a flag of truce, having been invited to renewed negotiations. When they reached Al-Ashraf’s camp they were seized and beheaded. The remaining Templars fought on against the final Mameluk assault for three more days, until the undermined walls collapsed around them and the Mameluks poured in to finish them off. The Mameluks then systematically demolished much of Acre. Those citizens who survived the massacre but who failed to escape were taken as slaves. The fall of the capital so demoralised the remaining Latin Christians that soon afterwards Sidon, Tortosa and Pilgrim’s Castle were evacuated for Cyprus. After this time Acre went into steep decline, and it is today little more than a backwater.


Adam de Wallaincourt


(died c. 1310)


Adam de Wallaincourt was a Templar referred to in a document produced by the Templars during the Paris trials, defending the Order from the accusations made against it. The document claimed that this brother Adam de Wallaincourt had wished to find a harsher religious Order and had entered the Carthusians, for a while. However he had found it unbearable, and had returned to the Order of the Temple, subjecting himself to humiliating penances in order to be accepted back. (His penances had included fasts, eating on the ground, being flogged by the priest and crawling naked before the altar during masses). The brothers defending the Order called for this man to be brought to testify in its defence, as it was unlikely that someone would have suffered all that to return to an Order guilty of all that the Templars were charged with.9


Ad Extripanda


Ad Extripanda was the title of a Papal Bull issued by Pope Innocent IV in 1252. It granted the Inquisition the authority to use torture against suspected heretics, in order to extract confessions. The edict also gave the secular authorities the right to seize a portion of the property of the condemned heretic. This was in accordance with ancient Roman Law, a harsh and authoritarian system that was making a return to the statute books. Ad Extripanda also officially sanctioned the practice of passing convicted heretics ‘to the secular arm’ for execution by burning alive at the stake. The custom of burning to death unrepentant or relapsed heretics was already in place.10


Adhemar of Le Puy


(died 1098)


Adhemar de Monteil, Bishop of Le Puy was Urban II’s legate with the First Crusade. His death in Antioch deprived the Crusade of an effective spiritual leader.


Admiral


After the loss of Acre and the last Christian territories on the Syrian mainland, it became clear to the Military Orders, based initially on Cyprus, that future crusading operations would need to have a largely maritime character. Thus both the Templars and Hospitallers appointed officers to command the fleets they expected to build up. The Templar Admiral was first mentioned in 1301.11 The Templars seem to have had little time to develop a fleet before the suppression, however, and only the Knights of St John, based on Rhodes after their seizure of the island, evolved into a formidable sea power.


Admission see Initiation Ceremony


Ad Providam


Ad Providam was the title of a Papal Bull issued by Clement V on 2 May 1312. This was towards the end of the Council of Vienne. It granted most of the property of the Order of the Temple (which had been abolished and outlawed in the bull Vox in Excelso) to the Order of the Hospital, so that the Hospitallers could use it for the purposes for which it had originally been granted to the Templars. It also transferred all the Templars’ former privileges. The various Kings, who had hoped to retain the confiscated land, were compelled to go along with the decree, for the most part. Exempted were the Templar lands in Iberia. There the land would go to other, smaller Military Orders; some of were newly founded ones that rose from the ashes of the Temple.


It was a coup for the Catholic Church that it managed to retain the Templar lands for the Hospitallers and not see them dissipated by the kings and distributed to their favourite courtiers. The bull called the Hospitallers ‘athletes of the lord’ and praised them for bearing hardship, danger and heavy losses in the defence of the faith overseas. The Templars were surely no less worthy of these praises, though. Their service to Christendom had been equally as devoted, and it is ironic that these words appear in a document drawn up to strip them of their belongings. Instead, Ad Providam states that the Templars were spattered with indecent errors and crimes, and blemished and stained with depravity.12 The transfer was confirmed in another bull entitled Nupter in Concilio. However, this bull of 16 May emphasized the exception of the properties in Iberia.13 Other bulls from this time, meanwhile, reveal that owing to pressure from the Bishops, the Hospitallers’ new privileges were suspended.


Ager Sanguinis see Field of Blood


Agnes de Courtenay


(1136–84)


Agnes de Courtenay, Countess of Jaffa and Ascalon, was an influential figure in Jerusalem in the mid- to late twelfth century. She was the daughter of Joscelin II de Courtenay, the Count of Edessa, the sister of Joscelin III and the wife of Amalric I, although the marriage was annulled for political reasons on his succession to the throne, after which she married first Hugh of Ibelin and then Reynald Grenier, the ‘ugly, intellectual’ lord of Sidon.14 Her children by Amalric were King Baldwin IV and Queen Sibylla. Agnes was the power behind Baldwin IV’s throne. Her decisions had a critical bearing on the fate of the Kingdom of Jerusalem in several respects. She secured the appointment of Heraclius as Patriarch. She also encouraged Sibylla to marry Guy de Lusignan, and along with Gerard de Ridefort, leader of the Templars, engineered Sibylla and Guy’s accession to the throne. William of Tyre called Agnes a ‘grasping woman, detestable to God’.15


Agnus Dei


Agnus Dei is Latin for ‘Lamb of God’. It is a symbol of the martyred Christ, and Christian sacrifice. The lamb has a halo and holds a banner bearing a cross. Sometimes in Christian iconography, the lamb was also depicted bleeding, with its blood flowing into a chalice resembling the Holy Grail. The Agnus Dei is also associated with St John the Baptist, who proclaimed Jesus to be the Lamb of God, which takes away the sins of the world (John 1:29). The Templars and the Hospitallers both used the symbol, in carvings around their buildings and on their official seals. Some believe that as well as its conventional interpretation as a symbol of Christ, the Agnus Dei was chosen because of the word’s relation to the Latin Agnito meaning ‘knowledge’. In London, carvings of the lamb can be seen on St John’s Gate, which is all that remains of the Hospitallers’ Grand Commandery in Clerkenwell. It can also be seen around the Inns of Court, off the Strand, where the law society of the Middle Temple inherited the lamb device from the Templars, along with the premises, which had formerly been the Templars’ British headquarters. The other legal society using the site, the Inner Temple, adopted the winged horse Pegasus as its arms, possibly taken from a badly drawn or weathered image of the two riders.


Agriculture


The two Templar barns at Cressing in Essex are monuments to the grand scale of the Templars’ architectural operations. In their early years the Templars were donated land by royal and noble patrons, scattered across a wide area of Europe. These lands were granted so that the profits would help support the Templars continuing work in the Holy Land. Some of these grants were of underdeveloped, marginal land, which the Templars worked to bring to productivity. They also engaged tenant farmers, collecting rents and tithes – usually a tenth of all goods produced. During the late twelfth century, however, in some areas, it became more profitable for the Templars to cultivate the land themselves, because of high inflation.16 Following the Cistercian lead, the Templars also became great sheep farmers, and developed their own wool trade.17 They kept great flocks in northern England. Much of their wool found its way to Belgium to be processed. It was then sold at the Champaign Fairs, or at other markets.


Aigues Mortes


Aigues Mortes was the port built by Louis IX for the embarkation of his Crusading expeditions. It was the only Mediterranean port then under French royal authority.


Ain Jalut


The Battle of Ain Jalut, fought in Palestine on 3 September 1260, was a Mameluk victory over the Mongols. The Mongols under Hulagu had conquered Persia and Mesopotamia, massacred the population of Baghdad, and received the submission of Damascus, Aleppo, Antioch and Armenian Cilicia. In 1259 Hulagu had returned to Mongolia with most of his horsemen, in order to advance his interests following the death of the great Khan, his brother Mongke. He had left an army in the Middle East under General Kitbuqa. The Mongols remained an imminent threat, therefore. Kitbuqa’s ambassador arrived in Cairo, and delivered the usual ultimatum. He demanded the Mameluk regime offer total submission to the Mongol Empire or await its fate. The Mameluks responded by sending back the envoy’s head.


Led by the Sultan Kurtuz and by the general Baybars, the Mameluk army marched out, crossing the Christians’ territory of southern Palestine. The leaders of the vestigial Kingdom of Jerusalem were unsure whether to involve themselves directly, and (as it is usually claimed) declined Kurtuz’s offer of an alliance, although they agreed not to impede the Mameluk army’s progress.18 One chronicle says the Christians did become actively involved. According to the annals of St Rudbert of Salzburg, the Sultan ‘of Babylon’ joined to himself Templars, Hospitallers, Teutonic Knights,‘and all the Church overseas’, and did battle with the Tartars (Mongols), and God granted that he defeated them.19


Kitbuqa had been held up by a Muslim insurrection in Damascus. The Mameluks had headed for Acre, where they learned that the Mongols had crossed the Jordan, and possibly picked up the Christian allies alluded to in the annals. (The Templars had defended Sidon from a Mongol attack at around this time). The Egyptian-led force intercepted the Asiatic horde at Ain Jalut (the pools of Goliath) in Galilee, though Baybars kept the bulk of his troops hidden behind ridges. He organized a classic Mameluk feigned withdraw (also a favoured Mongol tactic), and then unleashed the hidden reserves against the apparently unsuspecting enemy. For once the Mongols were on the receiving end of slaughter, and soon Kitbuqa himself was captured and beheaded. The Mongol threat to the Franks of Syria/Palestine was over, replaced by the threat of the ascendant Mameluks. Soon Aleppo and Damascus were in Mameluk hands, and Baybars had killed Kurtuz and become Sultan himself. Having driven off the Mongols, he was poised to begin the destruction of the Christian states, beginning with Antioch.


Aketon see Armour


Al-Adil


(1145–1218)


Abu-Bakr Malik al-Adil was an Ayyubid Sultan. The Crusaders knew him as Saphadin. He was a younger brother of Saladin, and had negotiated on his brother’s behalf with Richard the Lionheart, thus being instrumental in the treaty that brought the Third Crusade to a conclusion. Previously a proposal had been on the table that would have seen al-Adil ruling the Kingdom, married to Richard’s sister Joan.20 The lady’s objections to marrying a non-Christian and al-Adil’s disinclination to convert put a stop to that idea, and it is unlikely the Muslims ever took the proposal seriously. Al Adil eventually succeeded as Sultan in Syria, having defeated his rivals and disinherited his nephews, apart from al-Zahir Ghazi who retained Aleppo, recognizing al-Adil’s suzerainty. Al-Adil also ruled in Egypt.21 He favoured a policy of peaceful relations with the Franks in the East. He also established trade links between Egypt and the Maritime Republics, especially Venice. Meanwhile the pragmatic Grand Masters of the Temple, Gilbert Erail and Philip de Plessies signed and preserved treaties with al-Adil, which preserved the peace in the years before 1217, when the Fifth Crusade invaded Egypt. Al-Adil, in declining health, failed to prevent the Crusaders from investing Damietta. He divided his empire between his sons. Al-Kamil took Egypt, and later succeeded in trapping the Crusaders near Mansourah, with the help of his brothers, al-Muazzam of Damascus and al-Ashraf of the Jazira (northern Iraq).


Al-Afdal


(died c. 1200)


Al-Malik al-Afdal was a son of Saladin. He was the Muslim commander who led a strong raiding/reconnaissance force across Galilee in 1187 and defeated the Templars and Hospitallers either at Cresson or Sephoria. He also fought at Hattin. He later made a bid for power in Syria but in 1200 was defeated in battle at Belbies by his uncle al-Adil.


Alamut


Alamut was a remote fortress in northern Persia (Iran), an eyrie in the mountains south of the Caspian Sea. Its name meant the eagle’s perch. It was long regarded as impregnable. It became synonymous with the Shi’ite Muslim sect the Nizari Ismailis, better known as the Assassins or Hashishin. In 1090 the sect had infiltrated the garrison, and from then until 1256 it served as their stronghold. They held numerous other castles in the area besides, as well as in Syria. The Assassins in Syria were subordinate to the leader in Alamut, and probably acted on his orders, or at least with his permission when moving against Templar lands or assassinating Crusader barons. Followers of the Assassin sheik (the first of which was Hassan I Sabbah) were ‘brainwashed’ into becoming ruthless murderers, usually targeting Sunni potentates. Their leader expected them to embark upon their bloody missions without expectations of returning alive. Then as now it is hard to account for such fanaticism, but the promise of paradise and houris was a strong motivation. Legend has it that there was a beautiful secret vale near Alamut, an earthly paradise where novice Assassins were taken, to be entertained by beautiful young women trained in the arts of gratifying male desires. The young men, after a short stay in this garden, were drugged, and then they revived elsewhere, and told that they had been in paradise. They would naturally be filled with a longing to return. However they would be told that the only way they could do so was to show blind loyalty to the leader of the sect. They had to perform the murder he ordered and be captured and executed as a result, thus achieving martyrdom. Marco Polo, who passed Alamut while on his travels to the East, recorded the legend of this phoney paradise. By then however the castle was a ruin and the Assassins had been scattered by the Mongols.


Alanus Marcel


(died c. 1228)


Alanus Marcel (or Alan Martel) was a Templar Master or Grand Preceptor of England, presiding from around 1218. He is commemorated in a modern stained glass window in Temple Church, London. He was the recipient of a letter from Peter of Montaigue, telling of how the Fifth Crusade had been trapped in Egypt, leading to the surrender of Damietta, and appealing for help. The letter was copied in the chronicle of Roger of Wendover.22


Al Aqsa Mosque


The Al Aqsa Mosque is an Islamic place of study and worship in Jerusalem. This large building occupies part of Temple Mount, adjacent to the Dome of the Rock. It comprises part of the sacred complex of buildings known to the Muslims the Al-Haram al-Sharif. It was built in the years from AD 674, possibly on the site of a Byzantine Church. The mosque was a scene of slaughter in the wake of the capture of Jerusalem by the First Crusade.23 It seems that subsequently King Baldwin I began to convert the building into a royal palace. Baldwin II eventually assigned part of it to the nascent Order of the Temple. Hugues de Payens and his associates set themselves up there and subsequently used the building as their base. Later Templars probably added the building’s great porch, with its central Gothic arch, which can still be seen, as well as extensive additions now lost. The building remained in Templar hands until the fall of Jerusalem to Saladin, who had it ritually cleansed and restored as a mosque. The Templars never returned to this their first home, even after Frederick II negotiated the return of Jerusalem to the Christians. Part of the Emperor’s treaty with al-Kamil had stipulated that the mosques of Temple Mount were to remain in Muslim hands. The Crusaders sometimes referred to the Al Aqsa Mosque as the Temple of Solomon, while calling the Dome of the Rock the Temple of the Lord. (This does not necessarily mean that they believed the Mosque actually to be the original Temple built by King Solomon).


Alarcos


The battle of Alarcos, July 1195, was a victory of the Almohads over the Castilian forces of Alfonso VIII, which included knights of Calatrava. The battle’s verdict was later reversed at las Navas de Tolosa.


Al-Ashraf Khalil


(died 1294)


Al-Ashraf Khalil was the Mameluk Sultan of Egypt who brought about the annihilation of the Crusader state by capturing the Christians’ last major stronghold at Acre in 1291. He was the son of Qalawun who had already much reduced the Crusader holdings and destroyed various cities. Qalawun mustered his armies for the final assault in 1290, but died before he could lead them against Acre, passing that distinction to al-Ashraf. Al Ashraf united the forces of Egypt and Syria. He imprisoned the envoys from Acre, including a Templar called Bartholomew Pizan, who attempted to negotiate, and proceeded to commence the siege, bringing over a hundred siege towers, trebuchets and ballistas to bear. Though the defenders fought valiantly the cause was hopeless. Al Ashraf Khalil destroyed Acre and its Christian population, taking many into slavery, and completed his sweep by taking Sidon, Tyre and Beirut, before returning to Cairo. He later entered Damascus in triumph, preceded by 280 fettered prisoners.24 He would meet a violent end. Khalil favoured Circassian Mameluks over Turkish ones for promotion, and this led to his assassination by a disgruntled Turk.


Albert Avogadro


(1149–1215)


Albert Avogadro was the titular Latin Patriarch of Jerusalem. He was appointed to the position by Pope Innocent III, who also made him his legate in the Holy Land. Avogadro seems to have been something of a diplomat, having previously mediated between Pope Clement III and the Emperor Frederic I Barbarossa, and between warring city-states in his native Italy. Soon after becoming Patriarch in 1204 he found himself acting as an intermediary between the much-reduced Latin Kingdom of Jerusalem and the Kingdom of Cyprus and between the Templars and the Armenian princes of Cilicia. He also drew up the Rule for the Carmelites. Because Jerusalem was in enemy hands, Avogadro established his base in Acre. Here he was murdered in September 1215, by a disgruntled former servant, while processing to the Church of St John of Acre. Subsequently the Patriarch was made a saint, probably owing to his role in establishing the Carmelites.


Albert I of Habsburg


(1255–1308)


Albert of Habsburg held the titles King of Germany, King of the Romans and Duke of Austria. He was the son of Rudolf of Hapsburg, who set the family on the path to pre-eminence. His title King of Germany was contested by Adolf of Nassau-Wielberg, whom Albert defeated in battle in 1298. In 1303 Boniface VIII recognized Albert as future Holy Roman Emperor. Clement V, however, turned down Albert’s appeal to be so crowned. At the time there was a movement afoot to bestow the office on Charles of Valois, but in the event it went to Henry of Luxembourg. Albert expressed doubts concerning the accusations against the Templars and like James II of Aragon was reluctant to move against them in his lands before being formally requested to do so by the Pope.25 Albert was murdered on 1 May 1308 by a disgruntled nephew, while en route to suppress a revolt in Swabia.


Albert Pike


(1809–1891)


Albert Pike was a Boston-born (USA) Freemason of the Scottish Rite, who did much to promote the Rite as well as stamping his influence on ‘the Craft’ in America. He was also an attorney, a writer, and a General in the Confederate Army during the US Civil War, when he commanded Native-American Indian troops allied to the southern states.


As a Freemason, in 1859, Pike was elected Sovereign Grand Commander of the Scottish Rite, southern jurisdiction. He wrote a book on the ‘Morals and Dogma’ of the Rite, containing his esoteric philosophies. He claimed that Freemasonic lodges were temples of religion and refers to ‘Lucifer, the Lightbearer! Strange and mysterious name to give to the Spirit of Darkness …’ In the context, however, ‘Lucifer’ seems to refer to the Morning Star. Pike was the subject of the anti-Masonic campaign of the French Hoaxer Léo Taxil. Taxil forged documents showing that Masons were involved in lurid acts and unholy worship, but later confessed to the stunt he had pulled. Pike was nonetheless a controversial character, a holder of pro-slavery and anti-Catholic views. He is sometimes alleged to have been involved with the white-supremacist Ku Klux Klan though there is no evidence of this association. Pike died in Washington in 1891.


Albigensian Crusade


The Albigensian Crusade was a military campaign called by Pope Innocent III in 1209 and dragging on for many decades. It was directed against the dualist Cathar sect in Occitanspeaking south-western France, and the nobility of Toulouse and the Languedoc who sheltered and defended the Cathars and refused to persecute them. Its pretext was the murder of the papal legate Pierre de Castelnau, and one of its leaders was another uncompromising churchman, Arnaud Amaury.26 Innocent III promised the French-speaking, northern knights who embarked on this war the same spiritual rewards as it did those who made their way to fight the Muslims in the Holy Land. Initially Count Raymond VI of Toulouse had born the Church’s condemnation and had been excommunicated for his reluctance to stamp out the heretics.


Raymond VI of Toulouse managed to deflect the initial wrath of the French host away from Toulouse and towards the territory of his nephew Viscount Raymond Roger Trencavel. The Catholic armies stormed the Town of Béziers, pushing an ill-planned sortie back in through a gate unwisely left open. They slaughtered the population indiscriminately on St Mary Magdalene’s day, even massacring those sheltering in churches. They then moved on to Carcassonne. After a worthy defence, Viscount Trencavel was lured out of his city to negotiate. He was seized and died a prisoner while his people were dispossessed. Simon de Montfort, one of the leading Northerners, took over Carcassonne and continued the war, pursuing the Cathars and the southern nobles (for example the Count of Foix) who opposed him. Simon took Toulouse itself, and even defeated Pedro II of Aragon when Pedro intervened on the Occitan side. Later De Montfort’s skull was crushed by a rock hurled from a catapult operated by women on the walls of Toulouse. He had gone there to recapture the city, which had risen up against his harsh rule following the return from exile of Count Raymond VI and his son Raymond VII. This reversal inaugurated a few decades of Occitan resurgence. However a Church-sponsored trade embargo impoverished the area, while renewed French campaigns including the royal Crusade of 1226 brought more massacres and gradually brought Occitania to its knees.


Captured Cathars were routinely burned in large numbers during the Albigensian Crusade. It may be that the Military Orders sheltered some fugitives, but on occasion they were also compelled to play host to De Montfort and his allies. De Montfort stayed with the Templars in Montpellier in early 1215 while on campaign, for example. The Templars endeavoured to preserve their neutrality, in the main, nonetheless, despite their avowed loyalty to the Pope. They were mindful that their true calling was in the Holy Land, and were loath to take up arms against their neighbours in the Languedoc.27 The effect of the war was to pull the Occitan-speaking region into the orbit of Capetian France rather than Aragon. Catharism was brutally persecuted. From the 1230s onwards, the people of the ravaged region were subdued by the fearful and intrusive presence of the Inquisition. In a sense the attack on the Cathars was a prelude to the attack on the Templars. Out of the Albigensian Crusade was born the ruthless institution that would be the Templars’ nemesis.


Alcántara Knights


The Knights of San Julian Alcántara were a small Leonese Military Order, also known as the Sanjulianistas, or the Knights of San Julian de Pereiro. Founded before 1170, they were linked to the Order of Calatrava, but their Prior was elected and not a Cistercian.28


Aleister Crowley


(1875–1947)


Edward Alexander ‘Aleister’ Crowley was a prominent and notorious occultist. He tried to found a new pagan religion called ‘Thelema’ based on individual will. He adopted the maxim ‘do what thou wilt’, and was a member of such occult groups as the Hermetic Order of the Golden Dawn and the Ordo Templi Orientis. Courting controversy, he identified himself with the Beast, and sometimes used the name Baphomet, linking himself to the idol allegedly worshipped by the Templars. He was influenced by the ideas of Eliphas Levi.


Aleppo


Aleppo was a great city in Syria, which the Byzantine Empire lost to the Arabs and in AD 637. It was a little to the south of the midway point between Antioch and Edessa, and was a threat to both the principality and the county. It became the seat of a Seljuk Turkish ruler. The Franks under Baldwin II unsuccessfully besieged it with Muslim allies in 1124. Aleppo became even more of a thorn in the Crusaders’ side when it was united with Mosul in 1129 by Zenghi. Zenghi was succeeded in 1146 by Nur ed-Din, who made farther inroads into the Christian territory from there. In 1138 Aleppo’s people fell victim to a terrible earthquake, which killed many. The city was later ruled by the Ayyubid dynasty, and then occupied by the Mongols. Aleppo is famous for its great medieval citadel, which still dominates the city.


Alexander IV, Pope


(1199–1261)


Reginaldo Conti was elected Pope in 1254, succeeding Innocent IV, and assumed office as Alexander IV. He was a nephew of Gregory IX. He tried to persuade the kings of England and Norway to embark on a campaign against his Hohenstaufen enemy Manfred, the son of Frederick II, offering Crusade indulgences in 1255. Armies of Guelfs and papal mercenaries attacked Lucera in Apulia, where Manfred was sheltering amid the largely Muslim population, but Manfred emerged the victor. Later Alexander himself lost control of Rome to Ghibelline sympathisers and fled to Viterbo where he ended his days. He was succeeded by Urban IV.


Alexandretta


Alexandretta (now Iskanderun in eastern Turkey) was a port in between Armenian Cilicia and the Crusader principality of Antioch. In the early 1150s it was taken from the Armenians by Reynald de Chatillon, on behalf of Manuel I. Reynald subsequently gave it to the Templars for their assistance in his campaign. Soon after Reynald and the Templars allied with the Armenians.29


Alexandria


Alexandria is a port city at the mouth of the River Nile in Egypt. It was founded in antiquity by Alexander the Great. It was a centre of Greek culture, with an active Jewish community. The city also became important to early Christianity, and was a centre of Gnostic thought. It was conquered by the Muslims in AD 640, but remained the seat of a Christian Patriarch. It declined somewhat in the Fatimid era after the founding of Cairo, though it continued to be a rich and important city. During the period of the Crusades it was perhaps the most important port in the eastern Mediterranean. It traded with the Levant, Byzantium and the Italian Maritime Republics, who maintained mercantile outposts there. Their presence in this Muslim city scandalised pious minded Muslims as well as Christians, the latter being particularly alarmed by the Italians’ readiness to trade in weapons and other war materials.30 (In some sense this reflected the realities of trade. Similarly Muslim merchants were no strangers in Acre and other cities in the Latin East.)


Alexandria was several times raided by Crusaders and even briefly occupied by them. Saladin first fought the Crusaders in a battle near the city. Alexandria’s famous Pharos Lighthouse, one of the Seven Wonders of the World, was still standing at this time,31 though its ancient library was long lost. Alexandria was also the original burial place of St Mark, until his body was stolen and smuggled out by merchants of Venice. Venice retained particularly strong links with Alexandria and rather than jeopardise these steered the Fourth Crusade away from this its intended target.


Alexius I Comnenus


(1048–1118)


Alexius I Comnenus was the Byzantine Emperor at the time of the First Crusade. He seized the throne from Nikephorus III in 1081. It is he who appealed to Pope Urban II for western military assistance against the Seljuk Turks, but he got more than he bargained for. Alexius insisted upon receiving oaths of loyalty from the Crusade’s leaders when they passed through Constantinople. These were not vows the Crusaders had much intention of keeping, for most of the great lords desired to fight on their own behalf and keep any spoils for themselves. Later Alexius, believing them to be already vanquished, failed to aid the Crusaders at Antioch. This soured an already strained relationship between the Greeks and Franks.


Alfonso Henriques see Portugal


Alfonso I of Aragon


(1073–1134)


Alfonso el Batalador (The Battler) was King of Aragon, crowned in 1104. He was the son of King Sancho Ramirez, and succeeded his brother Pedro I. He welcomed the Templars into his kingdom in the 1130s, keen for them to play a part in the ongoing Reconquista, the Christian struggle to regain the Iberian peninsula from the Muslim Moors. Alfonso was a tireless and successful warrior who had already regained much territory. He conquered Zaragoza, Tarazona, Tudela, Daroca and Calatayud between 1118 and 1120.


Alfonso distributed his newly accumulated lands to secular barons and military/religious fraternities. He endowed the Templars and Hospitallers, and also tried to foster more localized Orders such as the Confraternity of Belchite, dedicated to supporting the Reconquista. The King was married unhappily to Urraca, the daughter of Alfonso VI of Castile. They produced no heirs, and the marriage was eventually annulled.


In 1131, while besieging Bayonne, Alfonso I made an extraordinary will. It bequeathed the Kingdom of Aragon to the Canons of the Holy Sepulchre, to the Hospitallers and to the Templars (the Temple of Solomon with the knights who keep vigil there to defend the name of Christendom). The will explicitly left to these Orders all the lordships over all Alfonso’s subjects including lords and bishops.32 The three Orders were unable to claim this legacy in its entirety.


It might be added that in 1131 the Templars were a fledgling institution, hardly tested. This bequest was an extraordinary vote of confidence. Such an arrangement was unacceptable to the Aragonese barons. On Alfonso’s death they chose as his successor his brother Ramiro, despite the fact that Ramiro was a monk. He was brought out of his monastery for long enough to be married and to sire a son and heir, and then allowed to return to his vocation.


Alfonso VIII of Castile


(1155–1214)


Alfonso VIII was crowned king of Castile in 1158. He was a patron of the Order of Santiago, granting them Uclés in 1174. He was defeated by the Almohads at the battle of Alarcos (1195), but led the Christian coalition that triumphed at Las Navas de Tolosa in 1212. This was the decisive engagement of the Spanish Reconquista.


Alice of Antioch


(born c.1110)


Alice of Antioch was the second daughter of Baldwin II of Jerusalem, and the wife of Bohemond II of Antioch. After Bohemond’s death, Alice held the regency for their infant daughter Constance. She was determined to hold on to power, even making an alliance with Zenghi of Aleppo against her father. She was eventually compelled to reconcile and accept exile. Later Alice made another bid for power, leading to a feud with Fulk V, Count of Anjou, husband of her sister Queen Melisende. It seems Alice believed she was destined to become the wife of Raymond of Poitiers, who had been invited to Antioch by the leading nobles, but Alice had been duped and he claimed young Constance instead. After this humiliation, Alice again went into exile.


Alignment of Templar Churches


It has been noticed that many Templar churches are not aligned perfectly east-west, as most other Christian churches are. There is a strong tendency for them to be aligned to the north of east, by anything between ten and thirty-five degrees. One theory has it that this is intentional, and that the churches align with the position of the sunrise on the mornings of the feast days of the saints to which the churches were dedicated. This is termed ‘patornal alignment’. A couple of churches seem to have aligned with the rising sun on 29 August, the feast day of John the Baptist. The famous Temple Church, London, and the ruined church at Dover apparently shared this alignment (16° north of east), while the Templar Chapel at Ribston was so aligned as to face the rising sun on 22 July, the feast of Mary Magdalene (pointing 33° to the north of east).33


Al-Kamil


(died 1238)


Al-Kamil Mohammed al-Malik was the Ayyubid Sultan of Egypt during the time of the Fifth Crusade and the Sixth Crusade, that of Frederick II. He was the son of al-Adil and the nephew of Saladin. He commanded the force supporting Damietta against the Fifth Crusade’s siege, but on his succession was obliged to withdraw to Cairo to impose his authority, enabling the Franks to encircle and capture the port. In 1219 and 1220, Al-Kamil attempted to negotiate with the invaders, but they snubbed his offers, either through mistrust or over-confidence. The Papal Legate Pelagius of Albano turned down the return of Jerusalem with rebuilt walls and the True Cross in exchange for Damietta, because Kamil refused to also cede Kerak and Montreal. In 1221 the flooding river arrested the southward march of the Christian army, short of the town of Mansourah, which al-Kamil had fortified.34 Al-Kamil was reinforced by his brothers, al-Muazzam and al-Ashraf, from Syria and the Jazira, at the same time, and the stranded Crusaders were forced to surrender.


Later, the Emperor Frederick II arrived in the East as part of the Sixth Crusade. He had already established good relations with al-Kamil, via the envoy Fakhr al-Din, whom al-Kamil had sent to Sicily. The Sultan had intimated to Frederick that he would return Jerusalem to the Franks in exchange for the Emperor’s assistance against his rivals, particularly al-Muazzam of Damascus, who had become Egypt’s enemy.35 In the end the assistance was no longer required, as al-Muazzam had already died. However Frederick II negotiated a new treaty with the Sultan, and managed to persuade al-Kamil to restore Jerusalem, Bethlehem and Nazareth to Christian hands, supposedly for a ten-year period. This was possible because al-Kamil’s deal with his other brother al-Ashraf had put Palestine at his disposal, while al-Ashraf remained ruler in Syria. The transfer of Jerusalem was a coup for Frederick, but al-Kamil lost much face in the Islamic world by agreeing to this, despite the clause that Temple Mount would remain under Muslim control, and the clause preventing the Christians from refortifying the city. According to Matthew Paris, meanwhile, the Templars, envious of the Emperor, had written to al-Kamil intimating that he might like to ambush Frederick at the River Jordan. Al-Kamil had responded not by attacking Frederick but by alerting him to the Templars’ treachery. This had cemented the Emperor’s friendship with the Sultan and they subsequently exchanged many valuable gifts, among which was an elephant that al-Kamil sent to Frederick. Al-Kamil was no Jihadist, and showed himself willing to make peace with the Crusaders in order to concentrate on other matters. In his final days he had to contend with Khoresmian and Seljuk encroachment and with hostility from a nephew in Damascus. He was succeeded by his son as-Silah Ayyub.


All Hallows By the Tower


All Hallows by the Tower is a church standing adjacent to the Tower of London. The original building was the scene of the trial of some of the English Templars, who fervently defended the Order’s innocence. These defendants included William de la More, Master of the Temple in England. The undercroft of the church houses a stone altar table, said to have been brought by the Templars from Pilgrims’ Castle, prior to their suppression.


Al-Mansur Ibrahim


(thirteenth century)


Al Mansur Ibrahim was the Muslim lord of Homs who established an alliance with the Franks and a relationship with Armand de Perigord of the Templars. He fought at La Forbie on the Frankish side, against the army of Egypt and Khoresmians.


Almoner


An almoner was an official distributor of alms or charity to the poor and needy. Almoner was also an important honorific title. King John of England appointed a Templar called Brother Roger as his almoner, and Henry III appointed as his almoner another Templar, brother Geoffrey from the New Temple, London. The Royal Almoner also usually served as Keeper of the Wardrobe, with the task of purchasing material, which would be used to clothe the poor. On the other hand the Keeper of the Wardrobe was also be in charge of the transport of royal robes wherever and whenever the King required them to wear on state occasions. He sometimes also had responsibilities as a military quartermaster. Geoffrey was even responsible for procuring the mangonels and stones for use in the siege of Bedford Castle. Clearly he had a considerable budget at his disposal.36


Almoural


Almoural is a picturesque Templar castle in Portugal that survives in a good state of preservation. It is situated above the river Tagus, and was occupied by the Templars from 1175.


Alms giving see Charity


Al-Muazzam


(died 1229)


Al Muazzam was the Ayyubid ruler of Damascus, son of al-Adil, father of Coradin and brother of Al-Kamil. He partly provoked the Fifth Crusade by constructing fortifications on Mount Tabor, threatening Acre). He came to al-Kamil’s aid against the Crusaders in Egypt, but afterwards the brothers became enemies. Al-Kamil hoped for assistance from Frederick II against al-Muazzam, but al-Muazzam died before Frederick arrived in the East.


Amadeus de Morestello


(mid-thirteenth century)


Brother Amadeus de Morestello was the Master of the Temple in England at the time of Henry III. He received a Templar envoy dispatched from Acre in 1260 by the Grand Master, Thomas Bérard, to tell the western brethren and the royal courts of Europe of the arrival of the Mongol hordes in the Middle East, and of the great danger to the Holy Land, which was already being ravaged. This messenger, ‘compelled by intolerable necessity’, reached London in thirteen weeks, travelling from Dover to London in a single day. Unless aid arrived quickly, the Templars’ appeal stated, then a ghastly annihilation would be visited upon the world.37


Amalric I, King of Jerusalem


(1136–74)


Amalric I was the second son of Fulk V, Count of Anjou, and of Queen Melisende. He succeeded his brother Baldwin III as King of Jerusalem in 1163. Prior to that Amalric had been the Count of Jaffa and Ascalon. He was said to be tall and fairly handsome but grew fat as he aged and he never possessed the charisma of his brother. He was married to Agnes of Courtenay, the daughter of Joscelin II, Count of Edessa, but was forced to divorce her by the barons and prelates, on grounds of consanguinity. However their children Sibylla and Baldwin IV were recognized as legitimate. Amalric cemented a Byzantine alliance by marrying Greek princess Maria Comnina, producing another daughter, Isabella.


Amalric launched three invasions of Egypt, (in 1163, 1164, and 1168) being involved in shifting alliances with rival Viziers there, and initially having support from the Byzantine Emperor Manuel I Comnenus. The Vizier Sharwah, after finding himself deposed by his Fatimid master, made alternating appeals to Nur ed-Din of Syria and to Amalric for their assistance in reinstating him. In the latter campaigns Amalric came up against Shirkuh, the Kurdish General sent with an army by Nur ed-Din. General Shirkuh was the uncle of Saladin, and it was close to Alexandria that Saladin first met the Christians in battle. Quite possibly it was Amalric’s invasion of Egypt that set Saladin on the road to power. In Amalric’s absence, the Holy Land was vulnerable to attack from Nur Ed-Din. At one point the Sultan attacked the principality of Antioch and besieged the castle of Harenc. The Prince of Antioch, Bohemond III, rode to relieve the siege, but subsequently grew over-confident and against advice for greater caution attacked the Sultan’s much larger army, lured by a feigned retreat. Bohemond and his forces were either slain or captured. Only seven of sixtyseven Templars escaped.


Amalric fell out with the Templars on several occasions. He hanged twelve of them in 1166, accusing them of surrendering a cave fortress in Transjordan too easily to Shirkuh.38 The Templars, under Bertrand de Blanquefort refused to accompany Amalric on the invasion of Egypt in autumn 1168, on the grounds that this violated a peace treaty. Perhaps they also feared that the expedition jeopardised the security of the kingdom. William of Tyre also disapproved of the expedition, despite his closeness to Amalric.39 The Templars’ disobedience further angered the King. The Grand Master of the Hospitallers, Gilbert d’Assailly supported Amalric instead, meanwhile, and it was at this time that the Hospitaller Order completely militarised. Amalric and the Hospitallers attacked the Egyptian town of Bilbies and massacred its inhabitants.40 The expedition was ultimately unsuccessful, and Gilbert resigned in its aftermath.


Amalric’s feud with the Templars came to a head in 1173. He was in negotiations with the Syrian Assassins who had promised (no doubt falsely) to convert to Christianity and to enter into an alliance against Nur ed-Din on condition that Amalric release them from their tribute obligation to the Templars. The Templars probably knew that the Assassins were professional back-stabbers, both literally and metaphorically, and sought to prevent Amalric from an unwise alliance. Perhaps to pre-empt their treachery, a party of Templars ambushed and slew Abdullah, the representatives of Sinan, the Old Man of the Mountains, thus sabotaging the intended treaty. The King demanded that the Templars hand over those responsible for the ambush, especially its leader Walter de Mesnil. The Grand Master, Odo de Saint-Armand refused. Amalric descended upon Sidon (where the Templars were holding their General Chapter). He seized Walter and took him away to prison in Tyre. The king sent apologies to Sinan but had no chance to renew the talks concerning an alliance. He died in 1174. Such was his enmity for the Templars by then that he had been planning to call on the Pope to have the Order punished.41


Amaury de la Roche


(died c. 1271)


Amaury de la Roche was a Templar Grand Preceptor of France from about 1262, based at the Paris Temple. King Louis IX had asked the Pope that Amaury be assigned this position and the Grand Master Thomas Bérard had consented. Before this Amaury had served as Grand Preceptor of Outremer. In 1267 Amaury received letters from the Patriarch of Jerusalem, William of Agen, concerning the dire situation in the East as a result of Mameluk incursions, instructing him to relay this to the Pope, and requesting finance.42 Amaury also presided at a number of initiation ceremonies, including that of Geoffroi de Charney.


Amaury de Lusignan of Cyprus


(died 1310)


Amaury (or Amalric) de Lusignan was the brother of King Henry II of Cyprus, and was the ruler of Cyprus in late 1307 when Clement V’s order for the arrest of the Knights Templar arrived (Pastoralis Praeeminentiae). The instructions put Amaury in a difficult position because to some extent he owed his power to the Templars. They had assisted him in overthrowing his brother the previous year. Amaury also doubted the charges, but equally did not want to incur the anger of the Pope and of Philip the Fair.


The Templars on Cyprus initially resisted the agents sent to arrest them, but eventually submitted to being placed under guard on their own properties. Amaury, meanwhile, was murdered in his palace in mid-1310, by one Simon of Montolief. Soon afterwards the Templars’ enemy Henry II was restored to the Cypriot throne. Conditions deteriorated for the Templars thereafter and many died in the dungeons of the fortress of Kerynia. Several of the witnesses at the Templar trial on Cyprus (a little prior to Amaury’s murder) were returned exiles, nobles who had been loyal to Henry II, and who opposed the Templar-backed overthrow. These exiles include Philip and Baldwin of Ibelin and one James of Montolief. James could have been a brother or cousin of Simon of Montolief. It seems possible that when the various nobles loyal to Henry came together to testify at the Templars’ trial, they used the opportunity to plot revenge against Amaury.43


America


There has been speculation that the Templars (or members of a supposed secret society founded by surviving Templars in Scotland) may have travelled to America, perhaps some decades after their suppression in Europe. Henry St Clair, 1st Earl of Orkney, is usually linked to this theory, as are certain carvings at Rosslyn Chapel. The Templars were great mariners, and in principle their ships would have been perfectly capable of crossing the Atlantic. The Vikings had colonized Greenland in the 980s and it seems subsequently sailed to North America, even if they did not establish any lasting colonies there. The Greenland colony exported walrus ivory, and lasted until the mid-fourteenth century. Viking archaeology on Newfoundland provides evidence of the existence of the short-lived colony of Vinland. It is feasible that the Templars could have learned of the existence of the New World from Scandinavian sources, and sailed there after the suppression, possibly after a sojourn in Scotland. Speculative authors have seen this as a possible explanation for the disappearance of the fleet from La Rochelle on the eve of the arrests in 1307. There is, however, no evidence for Templar knowledge of the Americas. There is a rock carving in Westford, Massachusetts, supposedly resembling a Knight’s effigy, and a round tower of uncertain origin in Newport, Rhode Island.44 The so-called ‘Westford Knight’ is so indistinct as to be hardly there at all, however.45 The Newport Tower, meanwhile, could possibly be seen as the remains of a Templar round church, but the conventional explanation seems more credible; that it is the base of a seventeenth century windmill or signal beacon.


Amio of Ais


(died c.1212)


Amio of Ais was a Templar who apparently fell from grace within the Order. He was recorded by 1179 as holding the exalted position of Grand Commander or Lieutenant Master of the West. In the preamble to one document he described himself as ‘Amio, by the Grace of God called Master of the Temple of Jerusalem and noble procurator in regions this side of the sea’ (as opposed to Outremer). The document was addressed to all Christians ready to bestow favours on the earthly Jerusalem, which would earn them a place of habitation in the heavenly one. It was a call to resolve disturbances and scandal in the Church in the name of the ‘higher peace’.


By 1190 Amio was evidently in the Holy Land and was made Seneschal, but did not last long in this position, being replaced for unknown reasons by a Seneschal appointed by Robert de Sable. Under Gilbert Erail, Amio’s career suffered even more, and he was apparently demoted to a simple Brother of the Order. He evidently left the Order, after twenty years of service, and returned to the secular world. His name appears in charters from the thirteenth century as a lay witness. He participated as a secular knight, alongside his former brethren in a mission to relieve Baghras, and was last heard of in 1211. He does not seem to have parted on bad terms with the Order, and all this belies the claim by chronicler Michael the Syrian, that anyone who committed to the Knights Templar and fell short was killed by the sword. In fact it seems the Pope could intervene and spare a brother quitting the Order from the justice of the house.46


Anagni, ‘Outrage’ of


Anagni is a town in central Italy. The Papal Palace at Anagni was the scene of the scandalous episode in 1303 when a party of French troops led by Guillaume de Nogaret, minister of Philip the Fair, descended on the palace to arrest Pope Boniface VIII on trumped up charges of heresy and sorcery. Their intention was to force Boniface to attend a Church council in France where he would be judged. Scairra Colonna, the leader of an Italian faction hostile to Boniface, was also involved, and at one point allegedly struck the Pope. The Pope was held under house arrest, but the loyalist people of Anagni rallied to free him. Even so the traumatic episode had taken a toll and Boniface died soon after. The outrage at Anagni remained a source of controversy, and it overshadowed subsequent events. De Nogaret was excommunicated. King Philip and his ministers pressurised Clement V to convene a posthumous trial of Boniface in tandem with the trial of the Templars, in order to rewrite history and portray an attack on the Church as a defence thereof. In 1311 Clement formally vindicated Philip’s actions, praising his Christian zeal, and also pardoned Guillaume. Many took it as another sign of Clement’s fundamental subservience to the Capetian regime.47


Anchorites see Hermits


Ancient and Accepted Scottish Rite see Freemasonry


André de Chavigny


(late twelfth century)


André de Chavigny, lord of Châteauroux, was a noble on the Third Crusade. He was present at the siege of Acre and the Battle of Arsuf. In November 1191 he charged to assist a band of Knights Templar who had dismounted to protect a foraging party of squires. The Templars had themselves come under attack from numerous Turkish cavalry and though fighting robustly had been hard pressed.


André de Montbard


(1103–1156)


André de Montbard was a Burgundian of noble birth. He was one of the early members of the Knights Templar. He went on to become fifth Grand Master of the Order, presiding between 1153 and 1156.


André was a younger son of Bernard, Lord of Montbard and Humberge de Ricey. André’s brother Rainard succeeded to the title. André was also an uncle of Bernard of Clairvaux, Bernard apparently being the son of André’s much older half-sister Aleth.48 André’s access to St Bernard and Bernard’s influence within the Catholic Church helped ensure the official recognition of the Templars at the Council of Troyes. André apparently arrived in Europe some time before the other founding Templars, charged with gaining support for the Holy Land and negotiating with Fulk V, Count of Anjou, to come East to marry Melisende, the heiress to the Kingdom of Jerusalem. André returned to the Holy Land, and served as Seneschal of the Order under Everard des Barres, to whom he wrote while the Grand Master was absent in France, urging his return with additional knights and money. André also served under Bernard de Tremelay. He participated in the capture of Ascalon from the Egyptians in 1153. He was elected Grand Master after de Tremelay perished there.


Andrew Michael Ramsay


(1686–1743)


‘Chevalier’ Andrew Michael Ramsay was a Scottish Jacobite (supporter of the Stuart claim to the Scottish throne) and Freemason, living in exile in Paris. He was a well-known writer, and had been a tutor to the young Charles Edward Stuart (Bonnie Prince Charlie as would be) in Rome. As a Freemason, Ramsay was apparently Chancellor of the French Grand Lodge. He gave a speech in 1736 known as Ramsay’s Oration. The theme was the world being ‘nothing but a huge republic’ which could be unified by the philanthropic and fraternal spirit of Freemasonry. In this speech, he was the first to suggest that Freemasonry began in the Holy Land during the Crusades, among knights who gathered together from all parts of Christendom into one sole fraternity. After his speech ‘Knights Templar’ degrees began to appear in Masonic Lodges.


Andrew II of Hungary see Fifth Crusade


Andronicus Comnenus


(1118–85)


Andronicus Comnenus was a Byzantine prince and later Emperor. Several times he fell out of favour with his cousin the Emperor Manuel I. At times he was honoured, at other times he was a prisoner or a fugitive. He was governor of Cilicia for a while but went on the run from Manuel I with Philippa of Antioch (the second daughter of Raymond of Poitiers, whose sister was Maria of Antioch, Manuel’s wife). Andronicus appeared in Jerusalem and ingratiated himself with King Amalric I (his fortune in embezzled Cilician taxes may have something to do with this). Amalric made Andronicus lord if Beirut. Andronicus then eloped with Theodora, his own niece and the widow of Baldwin III. The lovers passed between Muslim courts, including that of Nur ed-Din, before setting themselves up in a castle in Anatolia.


When Andronicus was out raiding, his own castle was stormed by the Byzantine Governor of Trebizond, who took Theodora and her children to Constantinople as prisoners. Andronicus had to make grovelling apologies to the Emperor to ensure their return. He did not forgive the humiliation. Andronicus later stepped in to end the power struggle that broke out in Byzantium on the death of Manuel I.


In 1182 he brought an army to Constantinople, and subsequently murdered Maria of Antioch, her young son Alexius II and various other members of the Manuel I’s family. Andronicus then assumed the Imperial throne himself, and minted coins showing himself being crowned by Christ. He had officials who had been loyal to the old regime impaled on stakes. He also killed Renier of Montferrat, the brother of Conrad and Boniface and husband of Manuel’s daughter Maria. Andronicus spared only Alexius II’s young fiancée Agnes, a French princess, and took her for his own, though over 50 years her senior.


Andronicus launched a notorious attack on Latin Christians living in Constantinople, especially the Venetian merchant community. (Later Doge Enrico Dandolo would lead the vengeful Venetians in the Fourth Crusade and desecrate Constantinople). Andronicus also attacked the Byzantine aristocracy, hoping to remove potential rivals. Byzantine nobles thus supported an invasion by William of Sicily, which Andronicus just managed to defeat at Thessalonica. Meanwhile Constantinople rose in support of the young prince Isaac Angelus, whom Andronicus had attempted to arrest. When Andronicus returned to the city he met a grisly death at the rebels’ hands.49


Andronicus II Palaeologus


(1260–1332)


Andronicus II Palaeologus was a Byzantine Emperor, succeeding his father Michael Palaeologus, who had recovered Constantinople from Frankish rule. Emboldened by the thwarting of Charles of Anjou’s aspirations to seize the Empire, Andronicus repudiated his father’s policy of appeasing the Pope. He repudiated the union of Lyons as soon as he succeeded, and was excommunicated by Clement V in June 1307.50 Clement supported a Crusade against Andronicus planned by Charles of Valois. Fortunately for Byzantium the Capetian expedition failed to materialise. Andronicus, meanwhile, utilised the services of ex-Templar Roger de Flor and his mercenary band against the Turks.


Angevin Dynasty (Plantagenet)


The Angevin Plantagenet dynasty began with the Counts of Anjou (France). After the advantageous marriage of Geoffrey Plantagenet (the son of Fulk V Count of Anjou), to the Empress Matilda, (the daughter of Henry I of England) the dynasty became the ruling house of England also. Henry II and Richard the Lionheart ruled an Angevin Empire, as extensive on the Continent as it was in the British Isles. The French lands were largely lost in the time of King John however.


The Plantagenet arms consisted of a red shield with a gold lion. By the time of King John three lions passant guardant featured. According to legend the Angevin dynasty descended from a demonic witch or siren named Melusine (sometimes depicted as a serpent or fish from the waist down, and sometimes with wings). She was supposed to take this form every Saturday because of a curse. One day one Raymond of Poitou encountered her in a forest, and proposed marriage. She accepted on condition he never enter her chamber on a Saturday. He broke the arrangement one day and discovered her in her half-serpent form. The incident was forgiven and forgotten by both parties until one day he unthinkingly called her a serpent during an argument before the court. She took the form of a dragon, flew from the castle, and was never seen again. Other versions of the legend link Melusine to the de Lusignan dynasty. Demonic ancestry or not, the Plantagenets were famously hot tempered. It was said of Henry II’s rebellious sons ‘from the Devil they come and to the devil they will go’. The Templars, however, received great favour under the Angevin kings. They were granted alms, lands, and trusted positions as royal councillors and treasurers. They were also mediators in negotiations with the King of France.


The county of Anjou itself was lost to the Kingdom of France in 1206. The title ended up in the possession of an unrelated Capetian Prince, Charles of Anjou. ‘Angevin’ thereafter could also refer to the dynasty Charles founded, which ruled in Naples and Sicily from the 1260s.


Anglo-Saxon Chronicle


There are several versions of the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, which records the history of Britain in old English, up to and immediately after the Norman invasion. Historian monks at various monasteries produced different continuations. One version records the arrival of Hugues de Payens in England, after meeting with the Henry I in Normandy, and then passing north to Scotland, on a drive to recruit volunteers for the Holy Land. It records that the Templar received many gifts of gold and silver to aid the cause of Jerusalem, and that a great multitude followed him back. The Chronicle claims these multitudes felt duped when they arrived in the East because there was not a great battle with the Saracens.51 This probably referred to the abortive attack on Damascus planned by Baldwin II of Jerusalem.


Anna Comnena


(1083–1153)


Anna Comnena was the daughter and biographer of the Byzantine Emperor Alexius I, and a chronicler of her times. Her multi-volume history the Alexiad includes an account of the armies of the First Crusade passing through the Empire and capturing Nicæsa. Anna expressed the suspicion that the Franks wished to seize Constantinople, which turned out to be prophetic.


Antichrist


The Antichrist is a sinister figure constructed by apocalyptic Christians interpreting various passages in the Bible, including parts of the book of Ezekiel and Revelation. The name ‘Antichrist’ itself only appears in the first and second Epistles of John (John the Evangelist). Revelation does however speak of the ‘Beast’ and also seems to foretell the coming as a powerful ruler, who will be a great deceiver and enemy of Christ. Various individuals through history have been identified with this diabolical being, who is supposed to be an agent of the Devil, if not the Devil incarnate. Some Christians speculated that Mohammed could have been the Antichrist (Islam has its own Antichrist figure, the Dajjal); while others, in the thirteenth century, convinced themselves the Antichrist was the Emperor Frederick II. To slightly later Templars like Richard Bonomel, meanwhile, it must have seemed like the Antichrist was leading the Mameluk rampage.


The Templar brother Henry d’Arcy, at about the same time, commissioned or composed a work on the Antichrist, revealing that the Order took an interest in matters eschatological. Building on the obscure references in the Bible, d’Arcy’s disquieting tract states that the Antichrist will be the opposite of Christ. Christ came humbly, and he [i.e. the Antichrist] will come arrogantly; Christ came to uplift the humble, and he will crush them; Christ came to justify sinners, but he will come to exalt felons.52 This Antichrist would destroy holy law while being called Almighty God. Henry d’Arcy anticipated the Antichrist would be of the Jewish tribe of Dan, because the Bible (Genesis 49:17) compared Dan to a serpent. He would be born ‘in sin’ but his mother would also be entered by the Devil at the moment of his conception. He would be a son of Hell, a vessel of venom, possessed by Satan in the same way Christ was by the Holy Spirit. He would set up his throne in Jerusalem, perform miracles and bring nations under his terrible power. His reign would be presaged by the severing of nations from Rome (and the return of the prophets Enoch and Elijah), and characterized by a great persecution of Christians. Antichrist would eventually be destroyed ‘by his own power’ and the end of the world, amid flames, the resurrection of the dead and the last Judgement would soon follow. ‘Be of great heart and undertake boldly to do good, and God will help you’, concluded d’Arcy.


Apocalyptic anxiety accompanied the turn of the fourteenth century and the failure of the Crusades. Philip the Fair and his minister Guillaume de Nogaret cast first Pope Boniface VIII and then the Templars as secret servants of Antichrist. Conversely, an anonymous song at the time of the suppression of the Templars cast Philip himself as Antichrist, accusing him of subverting the Church and plotting against Christendom.53


Antioch


Antioch was an ancient city located on the border between Turkey and Syria. It was one of the centres of the Roman and Byzantine Empires, and the seat of a Christian Patriarch. Though conquered by Muslims, much of the city’s population remained Christian. In AD 1098 Antioch was the scene of one the First Crusade’s most remarkable victories. The Crusaders besieged the city for nine months, during which starvation took its toll, within and without. Then word came that a Muslim relief force was on its way under Kerbogah of Mosul. The Christians’ situation looked so hopeless that the Norman Stephen of Blois deserted with his men. He met Alexius I Comnenus with a Greek army coming to relieve the Crusaders, but told the Emperor to turn back, as in all likelihood the Crusaders were already dead. Stephen of Blois was mistaken. At the last minute, with inside help secured by Bohemond of Taranto, the Crusaders had taken the city. However, Kerbogah’s army then appeared outside Antioch, and the weakened Franks seemed doomed after all. Their morale was lifted when the Holy Spear was unearthed in their midst following a hermit’s vision, and the relic helped to inspire them on to fresh victory.54


Antioch was to become the capital of one of the Latin states. The principality’s Latin rulers were:















	

Ruler




	

Reign









	

Bohemond of Taranto




	

1098–1105 (with Tancred as regent 1101–3 and 1105–6)









	

Tancred de Hauteville




	

1108–12 (Prince/regent for Bohemond II)









	

Roger of Salerno




	

1113–19 (Prince/regent)









	

Baldwin II of Jerusalem




	

1119–26 (Protector/regent)









	

Bohemond II




	

1126–30









	

Fulk of Anjou/of Jerusalem




	

1130–36 (regent, disputed by Alice of Antioch)









	

Raymond of Poitiers




	

1136–149









	

Constance




	

1149–63 (with Reynald de Chatillon 1153–61)









	

Bohemond III




	

1163–1201









	

Bohemond IV




	

1201–16









	

Raymond Roupen




	

1216–19









	

Bohemond IV (again)




	

1219–33









	

Bohemond V




	

1233–52









	

Bohemond VI




	

1253–68 (ruled in Tripoli until 1275)









	

Bohemond VII (titular)




	

1275–8755












Up until the Battle of the Field of Blood in 1119, it seemed the principality might emerge as a power in its own right, independent of the Kingdom of Jerusalem. However the aftermath saw the principality becoming a Jerusalemite protectorate. Subsequently the Byzantine Emperors, notably John Comnenus and Manuel I sought to re-establish their authority in the region. The early Templars gained several castles in the principality of Antioch, mostly in the northern frontier region known as the Amanus march, which included Baghras and Roche Guillaume. At times the Franks had a sometimes tense relationship with the Armenians of nearby Cilicia.


Bohemond VI of Antioch, hoping to safeguard his city, offered tribute to the Mongols in 1260, thus winning the particular hatred of the Mameluks. Antioch fell to the latter in 1268 whereupon the Sultan Baybars destroyed it almost completely. The population was either enslaved or massacred and the city never recovered. The Templars of Baghras withdrew, meanwhile, seeing that the principality was lost.


Antonio Sicci de Vercelli


(thirteenth-fourteenth century)


Antonio Sicci de Vercelli was an Italian notary who testified at the Papal Commission in Paris in 1311. He was not a Templar but had had worked for them for some forty years in the East. His testimony included a version of the story of the Skull of Sidon, and also the allegation that a Templar preceptor of Sidon had made himself a blood brother with the Sultan of Egypt.


Anton Szandor La Vey see Devil Worship


Apocrypha


The Apocrypha, or Apocryphal Gospels are those scriptures that were not selected for inclusion in the official or canonical Bible. Some of these were subsequently suppressed or destroyed, being deemed either unreliable, irrelevant or dangerous. There were always some who thought the Book of Revelation should be considered apocryphal, even though it was essential to Christian teachings about the end of the world and the last judgement. Other books were included in the Bible, which have subsequently been rejected (at least from modern English Bibles). These include the Books of Maccabees, Tobit and Judith, which were included in an apparently Templar Old Testament produced in Acre in the late thirteenth century. The Templars also seem to have known of a fourth century ‘Apocalypse of St Paul’ describing St Paul making a visit from Heaven into Hell, and being moved by the plight of the damned. This seems to be the inspiration for one of the works composed by or for Brother Henry d’Arcy of Temple Bruer.56 There were other books that were forbidden by the Church. Many were known of but thought lost, until the discovery of the Dead Sea Scrolls and the Nag Hammadi library with its Gnostic Gospels. Curiously not all esoteric, apocryphal writings were viewed as heretical. For example some that emerged during the Fifth Crusade, and that seemed to contain predictions of Christian triumph, were seized upon by the Papal Legate Pelagius of Albano and used to encourage the Crusaders. These works in Arabic included the Prophecy of Hanan, son of Isaac, and The Revelation of the Blessed Apostle Peter to his Disciple Clement.57


Apprentice Pillar see Rosslyn Chapel


Arabs


The Arabs were a semi-nomadic, Semitic race native to the Arabian Peninsula and the Middle East. They traced their origins to the patriarch Abraham via Ishmael, son of Abraham’s concubine Hagar (Genesis 16: 1–16). Renowned warriors, they won a widespread empire and spread their language, culture and beliefs after the time of Mohammad and the rise of Islam. They developed a more sophisticated civilization following the conquest of Persia and Egypt. They conquered much of North Africa and southern Spain as well as much territory in the East. By the eleventh century AD in the Middle East, however, the Arabs themselves had fallen under the domination of the Seljuk Turks. These conquerors subsequently adopted aspects of Arab culture and religion.


Aragon


Aragon is a region in north-east Spain. In medieval times it was a kingdom in its own right, also covering much of Catalonia. Its capital was Zaragoza, after the reconquest of that city by Alfonso I ‘The Battler’. The Kings of Aragon were also Counts of Barcelona, and sometimes overlords of Navarre. The Templars became extensively established in Aragon, with their administrative centre in Barcelona, governing Templar houses north of the Pyrenees as well as in Spain. The Order played a part in the wars of the Reconquista against the Moors. The Templar castles of Miravet and Monzóm were among the strongest in the kingdom. Alfonso I was a great patron of the Order, and in his will, left the entire Kingdom to the Hospitallers, the Templars and the Order of the Holy Sepulchre. This will was disregarded however, though the Templars did gain control of a number of fortresses and various other revenues and privileges. The Templars were also granted lands in areas recently recovered from Muslim rule. Here they were often obliged to encourage the indigenous Muslims to remain on the land as well as to encourage new settlers to these regions. Meanwhile the Templars also became influential courtiers in Aragon. The Master of Aragon had special responsibilities including being tutor to the royal princes as well as mediating between the King and the Church or the nobility.58


The wars against the Moors in Aragon sometimes took upon the characteristics of Crusades. Just as the reconquista was completed, ironically, Christian Aragon itself became the target of a Crusade preached by the papacy. This stemmed from the Aragonese monarchy’s establishing a link to the Hohenstaufen Crown of Sicily, when Peter III of Aragon married Constance of Sicily, the daughter of Manfred. The Aragonese kings asserted a claim to Sicily and became the latest representatives of the Ghibelline cause against the papal/Guelf faction. Aragon repulsed a Capetian invasion, but later relinquished its claim to Sicily. King James II restored Aragon’s good relationship with the papacy (and was seen as a potential leader of an expedition to the Holy Land), but his rule of Sicily was never officially recognized. Clement V still acknowledged the Capetian Angevin claim.


James II was sceptical about the accusations made against the Templars in 1307. However he soon turned against the brethren, ordering them to surrender to royal custody.59 The Templars declared their innocence, but were not ready to capitulate, withdrawing to their castles and preparing to withstand sieges by royal armies. James soon captured the castle of Peníscola and took the Grand Preceptor Exemen de Lenda into custody, but other Templars held out much longer, most notably Ramon sa Guardia in Miravet. At length the resistance faded and the Templars and their lands were taken into custody. Monzón held until May 1309, and a month later the last Templar castle, Chalamera, submitted at the intervention of a Papal representative. The trials revealed nothing conclusive. The Templars were not systematically tortured and none of them apparently confessed. James II eventually won the right to deliver the Templars’ properties to the new Order of Montesa, which resembled the Order of the Temple, but was dependant on the crown. Aragon remained a separate kingdom until 1479 when its King Ferdinand II married Queen Isabella of Castile, creating the unified Kingdom of Spain.


Archbishop of Narbonne see Gilles Aicelin


Archbishop of Sens see Philip of Martigny


Architecture


Crusader architecture in the Holy Land was usually in the late Romanesque/early Gothic style that they developed, which also showed traces of Byzantine and Arabic cultural influences. Greek and Syrian/Palestinian Christian artists were employed to decorate the walls of the churches with paintings and gilded mosaics, from which many saints and angels would have gazed down at the worshippers.


The Templars were great builders. Like the Hospitallers, they spent much of their revenue building formidable castles in the Holy Land and Iberia, or improving pre-existing ones. They also built churches and chapels, both in the East and in their preceptories across Europe. Early examples of their churches were often round churches, such as that at Tomar, and Temple Church, London. The circular plan echoes the shape of the Holy Sepulchre. In silhouette, however, some of these churches more closely resembled the Dome of the Rock, with a squat, cylindrical central tower supported by columns and spacious arches. The Templars also built polygonal churches, such as the octagonal chapels at Laon, Segovia and Metz. Early Templar architecture took its aesthetic lead that from that of the Cistercians, and rejected excessive ornamentation. A number of Templar churches and chapels do contain decorative elements, though, including carved heads, often adorning corbels. Some Templar buildings also retain original wall paintings.


To build their various structures, the Templars took on mason and carpenter brothers. They had certain ties with the builders’ guilds additionally. In Jerusalem the Brethren were also associated with a sculptors’ workshop near Temple Mount. The Templars built other buildings including domestic, industrial and agricultural structures, from dovecotes and barns to bridges, wharves, mills and city walls. Great examples of timber-framed Templar barns survive at Cressing in Essex.60


Archives, Templar


The Central Archives of the Knights Templar were never found at the time of the Order’s suppression. Many documents would have been amassed over their two centuries active in the Holy Land. The documents would have been kept at Jerusalem and then at Acre. Like the Hospitallers, the Templars probably rescued their archives from Acre and brought them to Cyprus, assuming the documents escaped the cataclysm of 1291. What happened thereafter is a mystery. In 1307 it is possible the Templars either carried them away to some new hiding place, or had them destroyed. They were never produced during the trials. Some documents of Templar origin found their way into the archives of the Knights Hospitaller, which moved from Cyprus eventually to Rhodes and then to Malta. Another theory has it that the Templar archives were destroyed when Cyprus fell to the Ottoman Turks in 1571.61


Archives, Vatican Secret


The Vatican Secret Archives are a vast collection of historical records and diplomatic documents kept at Rome, distinct from the Vatican Library.62 Some of these papers and Papal promulgations, at various times have been classified highly secret. They are said to cover thirty miles of shelves, and some date back to the seventh century. The earlier records and texts seem to have been lost. The archives contain some records relating to the Templars and their heresy trials. These have been examined over the centuries. Some documents were brought to France to be examined by François Rayounard, following Napoleon Bonaparte’s conquests in Italy. They were subsequently returned. More recently Dr Barbara Frale rediscovered the Chinon Parchment in the Vatican.


Archembald de St Amand


(early twelfth century)


Archembald de St Amand was one of the nine knights, the early Knights Templar present at the foundation of the Order in Jerusalem. He was present with Hugues de Payens at the Council of Troyes in 1129.


Ark of the Covenant


The Ark of the Covenant was a sacred Jewish treasure and religious symbol in Old Testament times. It may be considered a Holy Relic. According to scripture it was constructed on the instructions of Moses (Exodus 25: 10–28). It had the form a large chest of acacia wood, covered in gold, with winged, golden cherubim on its lid facing each other. It was carried on two poles, which slotted through rings attached to the chest. It was attributed with great sanctity and fearful powers. God himself was somehow supposed to reside within the Ark, and to communicate with Moses from between the wings of the cherubim. The Ark contained the tablets of the law, the Ten Commandments, which Moses received during the Exodus from Egypt. At first the Ark was housed in a portable shrine called the Tabernacle. Levite priests attended it, and even they had to tread carefully. (The high priest himself could only enter the Holy of Holies once a year). The Ark’s mystical power could be very destructive to God’s enemies. It devoured in jets of fire the two sons of the High Priest Aaron who entered the tabernacle making offerings that were deemed undesirable (Leviticus 10: 1–2) The fall of the walls of Jericho was attributed to the Ark, and it brought nothing but misfortune to the Philistines when they captured it (so much so that they sent it back). In the tenth century BC or thereabouts the Ark was installed in Solomon’s Temple in Jerusalem. At some stage thereafter it was lost. Certain Jewish lore had it that the Prophet Jeremiah had the Ark hidden in a secret chamber under Temple Mount or elsewhere in Jerusalem, just before the Babylonian invasion. Some have speculated that the Templars and Cistercians learned of this myth – and that the Templars’ secret purpose in Jerusalem was the recovery of the Ark.63 (It is understandable why they might have desired it, given the age’s devotion to relics). Even if this is so there is nothing to suggest that they ever found it there. Meanwhile an Ethiopian legend the Kebra Nagast claims that the Ark was removed by Menelik I, a son born to Solomon and the Queen of Sheba, who took it to his mother’s realm in Africa. The Christian Kingdom of Ethiopia still had ties to the Holy Land in Medieval times. Another theory has it that the Templars encountered the exiled Ethiopian prince Lalibela and even accompanied him back to Ethiopia on a quest for the Ark.64


Despite their association with the Temple of Solomon, the Templars do not often seem to have used the Ark of the Covenant as a symbol. It was also never mentioned at their trials. The Templars much revered the Virgin Mary, however, who was sometimes compared to the Ark, and mystically associated with it. Both she and it were thought of as vessels containing the essence of divinity, and Christ himself, in Christian thinking, embodied a new Covenant between God and Mankind.


Armand de Perigord


(1178–1244 or 1247)


Armand (or Hermann) de Perigord was the sixteenth Grand Master of the Knights Templar. He was elected in about 1232. He was probably from the Guienne, of noble birth, and had been Preceptor of Calabria and Sicily.65 There was tension among the Christian factions at this time of his election. The Hospitallers were supporting the imperial party (those loyal to Frederick II and his representative Ricardo Filangieri) and favouring an alliance with Egypt. The Templars, under Armand’s predecessor Pierre de Montaigu had sided with the Ibelin lords against the Imperial faction, supporting the claim of Alice, Queen of Cyprus to regency in the vestigial Kingdom of Jerusalem, and tended to favour an alliance with Damascus. The anti-Imperialist party gained ground, expelling Frederick’s forces from Cyprus and restricted to Tyre on the Levantine mainland. In 1237 the Templars lost 120 knights after a skirmish with forces from Aleppo, encroaching between Atlit and Acre.66 Armand trusted the Egyptians even less than the Syrians, accusing them of imprisoning Templar ambassadors in Cairo. In 1242, he abandoned a peace treaty with Egypt that had been arranged by Richard of Cornwall. He initiated a violent attack on Hebron, which had remained in Egyptian hands. The Templars then retook Nablus and acted with uncharacteristic brutality against the Muslim population there.


Armand also led the Templars into open conflict with the Hospitallers (under Pierre deVielle Bride) at Acre. The Hospitallers allied with the imperial agent Filangieri, in an attempt to re-impose Frederick II’s authority in the City. The Templars joined the Ibelins to oppose this, and ended up besieging the Hospitallers in their compound. The Templars also turned against the Teutonic Knights, and ejected the imperial party from Tyre. Armand de Perigord organized a coalition with Damascus, meeting al-Mansur Ibrahim, the Muslim Prince of Homs at Acre to seal it. The prospect of a Damascene/Frankish alliance unnerved the Sultan of Egypt, who called on the services of the Khoresmians, a Turkic tribe from east of Persia who had been displaced westward from their homeland by the Mongol advance. The Egyptians engaged these Khoresmians as mercenaries, and the tribesmen descended on the relatively defenceless Jerusalem, where they massacred the Christian population and defiled the churches. The forces of Acre, under Walter of Brienne, and including Armand de Perigord and the Templars, joined with the Damascenes to confront the Khoresmians, who now joined forces with the Egyptians. They clashed at the battle of La Forbie in October 1244, where the Egyptians and Khoresmians triumphed. Armand de Perigord was among hundreds of prisoners taken to Egypt. It is possible he died or that he lived three more years in captivity. In any event Richard Des Bures effectively replaced him as Grand Master.


Armenians


The Armenians were a Christian people native to eastern Anatolia. The Armenian Church is one of the oldest in the world. After 1184, it was in communion with Roman Catholicism. At the time of the Crusades the Armenians ruled the little principality of Cilica, having been driven from their heartland around Mount Ararat by the Seljuk Turks. Their capital was at Sis. Armenians also lived in Antioch and Edessa, and had communities in Jerusalem and other cities in the Holy Land. They mostly welcomed the Crusaders as liberators, and intermarriage between Armenians and Franks was not unknown. Armenian Cilicia also struggled to preserve its independence from the Byzantine Empire in this period.


Some Armenians wrote admiringly of the Templars. Gregory the Priest saw them as champions against the Turks, also acknowledging their role as mediators between the Armenians and the Greeks. Prince Thoros II was eventually compelled to pay homage to Emperor Manuel I in 1158. Thoros for a time fought against the Templars and Reynald de Chatillon for possession of the Castle of Baghras, before returning it and making an alliance against Manuel. The Templars’ relations with their Armenian neighbours remained tense thereafter, however. In the years after the fall of Acre, the Military Orders’ activities in the Levant focussed on defending Cyprus and Cilicia, the latter being vulnerable to Mongol and Mameluk aggression. However Jacques de Molay had doubts about the Armenians, who were by this stage suspicious of the Latins and unlikely to support a Crusade. Even so, while the trial of the Templars was underway, the Hospitallers were active in a Crusade to safeguard Cilicia.


Armour


The armour worn by the Templar Knights was the standard protective gear of knights of the period. It consisted of a chain mail hauberk (a long sleeved, hooded tunic) and leg defenders, or chausses, made from hundreds of small metal rings linked together and riveted. There were certain refinements over the two hundred years during which the Templars were in operation. The hood (coif) became a separate piece for example, enabling freer movement.67 In addition the Templars wore plate metal helmets. By the mid-thirteenth century this was the fully enclosed great helm, with eye slits and ventilation holes. Some additional pieces of plate armour were also being introduced by the late thirteenth century. This chain mail was worn over a padded leather jerkin called a haubergeon or aketon, quilted to keep its padding in place, and adding protection from impact injuries. All of this cannot have been pleasant to wear in the heat of the Middle East. Cloth mantling over the helmet may have helped stop the knights’ heads cooking inside their helmets under the sun. Above their body armour the Templars wore a mantle of white. They sometimes also wore a white cloak or cappa with a red cross on the shoulder. Templar Sergeants and Turkopole mercenaries probably wore less heavy armour. The Sergeants did not wear the white cloaks and probably had black or brown mantles.


Arnaud Amaury


(died 1225)


Arnaud Amaury was the Cistercian Abbott of Citeaux and one of the leading figures of the Albigensian Crusade. He was present during the slaughter of the people of Béziers. The Abbot reputedly told his troops, who had asked how to distinguish Cathars from Catholic believers, ‘Kill them all, God will know his own’. After the town fell, many of the people fled to a church in the upper town, which was dedicated to Mary Magdalene. The Crusaders trapped them there and slaughtered them. (The chronicles say 7,000 people died, although this is reckoned unrealistic, as the church could only have contained about 1,000.) In one morning the town was wiped out. Altogether some 20,000 people, ‘regardless of age and sex’ as the Abbot proudly informed Pope Innocent III, were killed. This terrible massacre was the first of the ‘Crusade’, and occurred on 22 July, St Mary Magdalene’s day, 1209. The Abbot also probably instigated the betrayal of Viscount Trencavel who was made prisoner though under a banner of truce, and the burning of a hundred or more Cathars captured the following year at Minerve. He went on to become Archbishop of Narbonne. He also took a lead in Crusades in Spain.68


Arnold Novelli


(late thirteenth to early fourteenth century)


Cardinal Arnold Novelli was a former Cistercian of Citeaux, and one of the cardinals commissioned by Pope Clement V to hear the final confession of the Templar Grandees in Paris and to pass judgement. The Archbishop of Sens was also present when Jacques de Molay gave his unexpected repudiation of the accusations and declaration of innocence.69


Arnold of Tarroja


(died 1184)


Arnold of Tarroja (or Arnaud de Toroge) was elected the ninth Grand Master of the Knights Templar in about 1180. Taking advantage of a two-year truce agreed between Baldwin IV and Saladin, Arnold set out to tour the courts of Europe to appeal for support for the Holy Land. He had been dispatched by a council in Jerusalem along with the Heraclius, the Patriarch of Jerusalem, and Roger des Moulins the Grand Master of the Hospitallers. They hoped especially to secure the support of Henry II of England (who had sworn to take the Cross as part of his penance for his part in the death of Thomas à Becket). However Arnold of Tarroja fell sick, and died before he could get any further than Verona. His companions had to carry on without him.


Arnoul of Wisemale


(Late thirteenth Century)


Arnoul of Wisemale was a Flemish Templar who became Preceptor of Reims. His name was recorded in an assembly in Breuil in 1289, and the Reims obituary roll recorded that he was a prominent member of the royal court. He was probably a royal treasurer.


Arnulf of Chocques


(died 1118)


Arnulf Malecorne of Chocques was a Catholic priest who accompanied the First Crusade. As the Duke of Normandy’s Chaplain, he was sceptical about the Holy Spear discovered at Antioch. He was less sceptical about the True Cross, which he himself discovered for the Crusaders in Jerusalem, having (according to one version of events) imprisoned the Greek and Syrian ecclesiastics and threatened them with torture to make them reveal its location.70 Arnulf became the unofficial Patriarch of Jerusalem immediately following the City’s fall in 1099, ignoring the traditional rights of the Byzantine church to fill that position.71 He was soon replaced by Dagobert of Pisa, but eventually regained the title of Patriarch in 1112. He was unpopular with the Eastern Christians for forbidding anything but Roman Catholic services in the Holy Sepulchre, and with his fellow Franks for sanctioning the bigamous third marriage of Baldwin I. Arnulf, suspected of corruption, was deposed in 1115 but appealed to Pope Pascal II and was again reinstated providing he annul the King’s marriage.


Arrests


The Templars in France were arrested throughout the country in the early hours of Friday 13 October 1307. Three weeks before, King Philip the Fair had dispatched secret instructions to his baillis and sénéchaux, telling of the inhuman crimes of the Templars and ordering that they be arrested and detained. It was a large-scale operation, efficiently and ruthlessly carried out. Contemporaries, such as the chronicler Jean de St Victor were shocked by the King’s sudden move. The Templars were mostly caught entirely by surprise by the dawn swoop, and some 15,000 members of the Order, from the Grand Master down to the humblest serving brother, were seized. They were arrested in the name of the Inquisition, and the process of interrogation and torture began almost at once. Meanwhile their lands and properties were taken into royal custody. The arrest warrants suggested that the king acted after prior consultation with the Pope. This was evidently not so, as two weeks later Pope Clement V expressed his indignation at this assault on an Order under the Church’s protection.72


It seems a handful of Templars, including Gerard de Villiers, the Preceptor of France, had caught wind of the planned arrests and escaped by sea from La Rochelle. One Hugh de Châllons also reputedly escaped, possibly with de Villiers, along with the Order’s treasure. Hugues de Pairaud, with a dozen or more companions, was arrested in Poitiers while awaiting an audience with the Pope. The Templars in other countries were not arrested until after the publication of Pastoralis Praeeminentiae on 22 November 1307, and the arrests beyond France were carried out with much less zeal and organization. The papal proclamation Faciens Misericordiam of 12 August 1308 detailed the proceedings so far and repeated the accusations against the Order. In Aragon and Cyprus, frontier territory where younger Templars served in a more active capacity and where their Preceptories were more like fortresses, they made a show of resistance, while protesting their innocence, but even there they had little spirit for a struggle against their own sovereigns and other Christians.


Arsuf


Arsuf (or Arsur) was an ancient town and fortress near Sidon. It was taken by the Crusaders in 1101, but fell to Saladin in 1187. Richard the Lionheart recovered Arsuf for the Christians after the famous battle there in 1191. The Battle of Arsuf was, for the Christians, the high point of the Third Crusade, which buried the myth of Saladin’s invincibility.73 Richard marched the Crusader army south along the coast, after his previous victory of Acre, with the objective of taking Jaffa, before turning inland towards Jerusalem. The Templars rode in the Crusader the vanguard, followed by the Bretons and Angevins, the Poitevins under Guy de Lusignan, and the Normans and English under Richard. The Hospitallers under Garnier de Nablus protected the rear along with archers and crossbowmen.74 The heraldic banners of the nobles and multifarious other flags flew above the battle-hardened army on the move, while the English fleet kept pace out at sea and the baggage train trekked in between the fighting men and the shore. The soldiers were harried relentlessly on all sides by Saladin’s mounted archers and dart-throwers for much of the way, but retained formation and kept moving. The Sultan’s army included Bedouins and black Africans, as well as Arabs and Turks, and greatly outnumbered Richard’s.75 On 7 September, outside Arsuf, Saladin intensified the harassment in an attempt to provoke the Crusaders into battle. The sweltering air hummed with arrows. At length Richard ordered his forced to halt and face the enemy, hoping to use his infantry formations as a protective screen in front of the waiting cavalry, and to withstand the assault until the right moment.


After fending off the bruising assault throughout the morning, the Hospitallers on the northern flank decided they had endured enough, and solicited Richard’s order to charge, in vain. The Marshal of the Hospital, the knight Baldwin de Carron took matters into his own hands, calling on St George and charging at the Turks. The Templars followed, then the other troops, counter charging at the Muslims with ferocity. King Richard regained the initiative, repulsed a Muslim counter-attack, and led another series of charges. He saw the action through to a great victory. The scattered Turks retreated into the wood of Arsuf and Saladin was forced to withdraw. Other nobles prominent in the battle included Henry II, Count of Champagne, and James of Avesnes who was killed. Richard went on to take Jaffa and to successfully defend it against another attack from Saladin. The battle of Arsuf, however was a less spectacular victory for Richard than Hattin had been for Saladin, as the Muslim army was able to depart and escaped total destruction.


The town of Arsuf remained in Christian hands over the following decades, dominated by the Ibelin clan. In 1261 they sold it to the Hospitallers. Baybars and his Mameluks besieged Arsuf in 1265, after taking Caesarea. Two hundred and seventy Hospitallers led a valiant forty-day defence, during which ninety of the knights perished. In the end the Mameluk mangonels mounted on siege towers breached the walls of the lower town. The citadel, crowded with refugees, held out for three more days before negotiating surrender in exchange for a promise of safe passage away. Baybars went back on his word. All the Christians were seized and taken into slavery.


Art


The Templars were an active order. Unlike other monastic Orders they were not devoted to contemplation or scholarship. Unlike other monks they were not best known for producing beautifully illuminated manuscripts. They tended to eschew elaborate ornament on their clothing and equipment, as well as on their buildings. However, many Templar chapels were beautifully decorated with carvings and wall paintings. In the East they may also have featured mosaics by artists influenced by Byzantine and Syrian styles. Certainly other Crusader churches did, notably the Church of the Nativity in Bethlehem.


Grotesque carved heads aside; the Templars do not seem to have favoured the overtly dark or horrific imagery that appears in some strands of Catholic art. In the few original Templar wall paintings that survive there is little sign of a ‘doom’ scene of the damned being tormented by demons amid the flames of Hell. The Templars instead favoured figures of saints (as at Metz), scenes of knights and castles (as at Cressac and San Bevignate) and abstract designs and symbolism (as at Montsaunes). Most Templar chapels would also probably have contained a figure of Mary, the Blessed Virgin. The Templars in Jerusalem sponsored an important workshop near their headquarters, where sculptors produced works to adorn their chapels and other buildings.76 Sculptors from the Templars’ workshop carved royal tombs including that of the boy-king Baldwin V.


The Hospitallers were also artistic patrons, as fragments of murals in their castles at Margat and Krak des Chevaliers show. Unfortunately relatively little Crusader art survived the destruction of the Kingdom of Jerusalem. The victorious Saladin purged Temple Mount of Templar accretions and the Khoresmians ravaged the Holy Sepulchre, while the royal tombs were destroyed in more recent times. Reused fragments of non-figurative Templar sculpture, including mouldings and capitals, survive in certain Muslim structures in Jerusalem. Other surviving jewels of Crusader art include the icons in the Monastery of St Catherine in Sinai. The Templars in provincial areas probably hired local artists to create their religious images. Meanwhile the crude dungeon carvings of Calvary crosses and saints (as at Chinon, Warwick and Lincoln), and possibly the chamber of carvings known as Royston Cave, exemplify the Templars’ own efforts at visual expression.


Arthur, King


(fifth century?)


King Arthur was a mythical king of Britain, probably based on a Celtic warlord who fought the Saxon invaders who poured in after the departure of the Roman Legions. Stories of Arthur appear in early Welsh texts. By the medieval period Arthur had become a central character in a body of romances and legends collectively termed the Matter of Britain, wherein Arthur was the ideal (and yet flawed) king presiding over a chivalrous court of Knights of the Round Table at Camelot. Arthur’s court is the backdrop to the Holy Grail Romances, such as the writings of Jean Bodel and Chretien de Troyes. Most of the Grail stories and chansons de geste concern the adventures of the knights who embark on the Quest (especially Perceval) more than they do Arthur himself.


Arwad


Arwad, (or Al-Ruad) is the small island off the coast of Syria. It lies two miles out to sea from the port of Tartous (or Tortosa, as the Crusaders knew it). The island contained the Biblical city of Arvad. This island was the scene of the Templars’ final action in Outremer. A garrison clung on and in 1300 the Templars, now under Jacques de Molay, sent a few hundred reinforcements there from Cyprus. Most of these were replacements forces that the Grand Master had gathered from Europe. They launched an abortive raid on Tortosa, hoping to be reinforced by Armenian and Mongol forces. The Mameluks responded by sending a fleet of sixteen galleys to besiege Arwad, starving the garrison into submission by 1303. The Templar commander Hugues d’Empuries negotiated safe conduct for the Christians away to the safety of Cyprus, but was betrayed. The Mameluks, predictably, reneged and killed or enslaved all their captives. (An alternative version of events has the Templar commander as Dalmau de Rocaberti, who after the surrender survived in captivity until 1314 when he was ransomed by James II of Aragon). This failure of the raid from Arwad and the loss of the island fortress convinced Jacques de Molay that limited military operations against the Muslims were futile and that a large scale Crusade or Passagium Generale was required. It was not to be, of course.77


Ascalon


Ascalon was an ancient port city in the Holy Land, between Gaza and Jaffa. The Crusaders defeated the Fatimid Egyptians at a battle near Ascalon in 1099, safeguarding the newly taken Jerusalem for the time being. Ascalon was important strategically as it controlled the route to the Sinai peninsular and Egypt. The strong fortress there remained a thorn in the Crusaders’ side, being a base for Muslim raids into the south of the Kingdom of Jerusalem. King Fulk (Fulk V, Count of Anjou) built several castles facing Ascalon to counteract the threat, including one at Gaza that he gave to the Templars. The Crusaders did not conquer Ascalon itself until 1153 when it fell to Baldwin III and a force including many Templars and Hospitallers. The Templars were led by Bernard de Tremelay, who died leading a rash assault. William of Tyre accused the Templars of rushing in and trying to prevent their allies from securing a share of the glory or the spoils, and thus was critical of their conduct. Gregory the Priest, however, called the Templars ‘Soldiers of Christ’ and said that at Ascalon many of them ‘came to merit the martyr’s crown.’ The city later fell to Saladin in the aftermath of Hattin, whereupon the Sultan had much of it dismantled including its walls and its fine churches. What remained of it was captured by Richard the Lionheart and the army of the Third Crusade. They laboured to rebuild its walls, only to have to demolish them again as a requirement of the peace treaty. Seventy years later the Mameluks, under Baybars, finally destroyed the city.


Assassins


The Assassins, also known as the Hasishiyun, more properly called Nizari Ismailis or Batinites, were a heterodox Islamic sect, active in the twelfth and early thirteenth century, who inspired both fear and disgust. They were radical Shi’ites; bitter enemies of the Sunni caliphate and the Seljuk imperial establishment of Malik Shah. They used targeted killings to advance their political and religious cause. Their devotees believed that the reward for the murders they committed was a place in paradise. The Assassins’ method was to infiltrate the household staff of their intended victim and earn his trust before stabbing him in the back with a dagger. They hoped to be executed soon after and thus to attain the delectable rewards of martyrdom. The Assassin sect was established in Persia, among disaffected Shi’ites who opposed the Sunni ruling class. Their effective founder was Hassan I-Sabbah, who infiltrated the castle of Alamut and converted sufficient numbers of its garrison to the Nizari philosophy that he was able to take control of it. Hassan became known as the ‘Old Man of the Mountain’. A branch of the Assassins was also established in Syria, in mountains bordering the Crusader state. Their castles included Qadmus and Masyaf, and they were also a fearful presence in Damascus. In 1129 Buri, the successor of Tughtigin, had the vizier al-Mazdaghani beheaded for protecting the sect. There followed a massacre of those suspected of Assassin affiliations, carried out by Damascus’s Sunni citizens, although the sect later had its revenge and killed Buri himself.78


The Assassins’ relationship with the Crusaders alternated between convenient alliances and open hostility. Jacques de Vitry referred to them as the ‘brotherhood of the knife’, saying they believed that only blind obedience to the Old Man of the Mountains led to salvation. The Assassins spread their intimidating shadow over the Christians too, and murdered several prominent Crusader barons. They notably killed Raymond II of Tripoli and Conrad of Montferrat, and they attempted to kill de Vitry himself, as well as Lord Edward (Edward I of England). It is possible the Assassins, for all their religious pretensions, were not above contract killing.79 Blind obedience was certainly a central tenet in the Assassins, and brainwashing of some sort must have been used to secure it. When Henry II, Count of Champagne visited an Assassin stronghold in the early thirteenth century, the Sheik proved his men’s absolute loyalty by ordering a pair of them to jump to their deaths from the battlements, and by asking if the visitor would like to see a repeat demonstration.


The Assassins had some contact with the Military Orders, particularly the Templars. The sect’s lands faced the Templar castles of Tortosa, La Colee and Chastel Blanc. At some point the Templars imposed a tribute obligation on the Assassins. In 1173, the Syrian Assassins, under Rashid ed-Din Sinan, sent overtures to king Amalric I offering an alliance in exchange for the abolition of this tribute debt, but this was broken up when the Templars ambushed the returning ambassador and slew his party.80 King Amalric was furious and punished a Templar called Walter de Mesnil. Several questions arise from this, especially how come the Templars, if they had the power to impose a tribute duty on the Assassins, did not use that power to stop the sect’s murderous activities within Christian territory? At any rate, later, when Louis IX arrived in Acre after the fiasco of the Seventh Crusade, he found himself confronted by a delegate of the sect. According to John of Joinville, the delegate boasted of the Assassin’s ability to kill any ruler who they chose to, and that Louis too might find a dagger in his back if he did not pay them tribute and release them from their obligations to the Military Order. The king sent the Ismaili away, and recalled him in the presence of the Grand Masters of the Temple and the Hospital. This time the delegate was reluctant to repeat his command. It is notable, though, that Louis saw fit to exchange gifts with the Old Man of the Mountain, and did nothing to provoke the sect against him.81 The Assassins, however, had not long to survive as a regional power. The coming of the Mongols precipitated their destruction, and the sect faded into obscurity after 1256, when the Mongols destroyed Alamut.82


Atbash Cipher see Hugh Schonfield


Atlit see Pilgrim’s Castle


Auditia Tremendi see Gregory VIII


Augustin Barruel see French Revolution


Augustine of Hippo, St


(354–430)


St Augustine was an early father of the Roman Catholic Church. Augustine’s writings influenced monasticism and are the guidelines used by the various Augustinian Orders. They also strongly influenced the thinking of St Bernard of Clairvaux. Born in what is now Algeria, Augustine studied in Carthage and taught in Rome. He was influenced by the Manichaeans but rejected Gnostic Dualism and came to preach salvation by faith alone. He kept concubines and was somewhat licentious in his early life, and famously prayed ‘give me chastity and continence, but not yet!’ After a spiritual conversion, however, he joined the Catholic Christian clergy and became an advocate of celibacy. He became Bishop of Hippo in AD 391. Augustine advocated an anti-materialistic outlook, something evident in later Cistercian thinking. This world view implies that the flesh and the physical world were somehow the domain of Satan. Such an outlook would be reflected in the Rule of the Knights Templar. Augustine was also a strong proponent of the doctrine of Original Sin, in opposition to the followers of Pelagius, whom he denounced as heretics. Augustine advanced the theory of a morally just war, which would help to make the Crusades and the Military Orders become acceptable within a Christian framework.83 In 1303 Pope Boniface VIII proclaimed that St Augustine was to be considered a Doctor of the Church, i.e. a beatified theologian whose writings must to be respected by all Catholic Christians.


Augustinian Order


There were several monastic fraternities following the precepts of St Augustine of Hippo. These, in the Middle Ages, included the Canons of the Holy Sepulchre. If the Templars were one and the same thing as the elusive Knights/Fraternity/Order of the Holy Sepulchre, the protégés of the Canons, then this may account for Augustinian sentiments in their Rule. However the Cistercian Order also had Augustinian influences.


Avignon


Avignon is a city in southern France. In medieval times it contained a Templar Preceptory. The city tried to assert its independence during the Albigensian Crusade, and in 1226 it withstood a siege by Louis VIII, falling eventually, though not before the squalid conditions suffered by the besiegers hastened Louis’s death by fever. Avignon lay within the territory of the Comtat Venaissin, which was subsequently granted to the papacy. During the reign of Clement V, the city became the seat of the Holy See, although the move was never popular with the faithful.84 Rome was undergoing a period of instability at this time and the Popes preferred to avoid it. Clement V settled permanently in Avignon in 1309, converting the Dominican Priory for his use. Succeeding Popes, built a great Gothic fortress-palace in the city, the Palais des Papes. The Avignon Popes were all French, and to a greater or lesser extent dominated by the Capetians. The Avignon decades were compared to the Babylonian Captivity. After the death of Gregory XI in 1378, the year after he returned the Papacy to Rome, Avignon became the seat of a succession of Antipopes. The Schism lasted until 1417.


Axum


Axum is a holy city in northern Ethiopia. It contains towering obelisks or stelæ that date back to the first century. Also there is a shrine dedicated to Our Lady of Mount Zion. There a monk of the Ethiopian Orthodox Church guards what is widely believed to be the lost Ark of the Covenant. Tradition has it that the Ark has resided in Ethiopia since Biblical times, where it was brought by a claimed son of King Solomon, Menelik I. Axum itself was the centre of an ancient kingdom, which adopted Christianity in about AD 300. Though the shrine where the Ethiopian Ark is kept today was only built in the twentieth century, it stands amid the ruins of much older buildings.


Aybeg see Mameluks


Ayme d’Oselier


(died 1316)


Ayme d’Oselier was a Marshal of the Knights Templar, the last to hold that post. He remained on Cyprus when Jacques de Molay returned to France. The Marshal tried to negotiate at first with Balian d’Ibelin and the officials of Amaury de Lusignan, the ruler of Cyprus, who came to take the Templars into custody. He was prepared to cede control of Templar estates but not to give up his arms of the order’s treasure.85 Ayme organized Templar resistance for a time, and meanwhile had most of the treasure hidden. Amaury de Lusignan threatened to have the Templars put to death unless they cooperated. Ayme d’Oselier met Amaury’s representative at the castle of Nisso, and came to terms. With other Templar dignitaries, he went to Nicosia and delivered a declaration before the court, stating the Order’s fidelity to the Catholic faith. As inventories began of the Templar houses in Nicosia, Ayme and his brethren withdrew to their fortress in Limassol, where they prepared to resist. They were besieged and in June 1308 obliged to surrender. The marshal was imprisoned in Khirokitia.

OEBPS/images/9780752473611_line.jpg





OEBPS/images/9780752473611_cover.jpg
RNIGHTS |
TEMPLARE






OEBPS/images/9780752473611_image001.jpg
Hist
istos
Pressry





